
 

 

Agenda - Public Accounts Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Video Conference via Zoom 

Meeting date: 8 June 2020 

Meeting time: 12.30

For further information contact: 

Fay Bowen 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddPAC@senedd.wales
------ 

In accordance with Standing Order 34.19, the Chair has determined 

that the public are excluded from the Committee's meeting in order to 

protect public health. This meeting will be broadcast live on 

www.senedd.tv  

 

(Private Pre-meeting)  

(13.00 - 13.30) 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

(13.30)   

2 Paper(s) to note 

(13.30 - 13.35)   

2a Committee Correspondence: Senedd Electoral Reform - Letter from the 

Auditor General for Wales (15 May 2020) 

 (Pages 1 - 4)  

2b Inquiry into COVID-19 and its impact on matters relating to the Public 

Accounts Committee’s remit: Letters from the Permanent Secretary, Welsh 

Government (19 May 2020) (1 June 2020) 

 (Pages 5 - 15)  

2c Housing Adaptations: Letter from the Welsh Government (28 May 2020) 

 (Pages 16 - 18)  

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

 

3 Welsh Government Financial Support for Business: Evidence 

session with the Welsh Government 

(13.35 - 15.00) (Pages 19 - 59)  

Research Briefing 

PAC(5)-13-20 Paper 1 – Welsh Government 

 

Andrew Slade – Director General, Economy, Skills & Natural Resources Group, 

Welsh Government 

Sioned Evans - Director - Business and Regions, Welsh Government 

Duncan Hamer - Deputy Director – Business, Welsh Government  

Emma Watkins - Deputy Director - Economic Policy, Welsh Government  

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the meeting for the following business: 

(15.00)   

Items 5, 6 & 7 

5 Welsh Government Financial Support for Business: Consideration 

of Evidence received 

(15.00 - 15.40)   

6 Inquiry into COVID-19 and its impact on matters relating to the 

Public Accounts Committee’s remit: National Audit Office Report 

(15.40 - 16.00) (Pages 60 - 102)  

PAC(5)-13-20 Paper 2 – National Audit Office Report - Overview of the UK 

government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic (May 2020) 

7 Effectiveness of Local Planning Authorities in Wales: Consideration 

of draft report 

(16.00 - 16.15) (Pages 103 - 127)  

PAC(5)-13-20 Paper 3 – Draft Report 



Dawn Bowden MS 
Chair of Committee on Assembly Electoral Reform 
Welsh Parliament 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 
CF99 1SN 

Reference:  AC/193/caf 
Date issued: 15 May 2020 

Dear Dawn 

Capacity of the Senedd 
I am grateful for the helpful deadline extension to provide views on the capacity of the 
Senedd. I am not sure that I am in a position to answer your third question, but I think 
it is appropriate as Auditor General, with my functions of examining and reporting on 
the use of public money, to give views on your first two questions. 

Question 1: Does the Assembly have the capacity it needs to carry out its 
representative, scrutiny and legislative functions now and in the future? 

No, I do not think the Senedd has the capacity it needs to carry out all its 
representative, scrutiny and legislative functions now and in the future. In particular, 
like the previous Auditor General (Huw Vaughan Thomas—please see his response 
to Creating a Parliament for Wales of 5 April 2018), I think the Senedd has 
insufficient capacity for scrutiny. Such scrutiny is essential for holding the 
Government to account for its spending, as well as examining proposed legislation 
and its potential effects. 

The currency of parliamentary scrutiny is time. Insufficient Senedd capacity reduces 
the time available for scrutiny in several ways – less time for individual Members to 
prepare because of competing demands, less time for committees to meet, less time 
within committee agendas, and so on – and that inevitably weakens its effectiveness. 

When legislating, less effective scrutiny leads to resources being unnecessarily 
consumed by defects in legislation. An example of this, with which I am very familiar, 
is the work caused by the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2013. This is a relatively narrow 
piece of legislation with a very specific focus. It is significant for the operation of my 
own organisation, however, and that has allowed me to observe the impact of 

Page 1 of 4 – Capacity of the Senedd - please contact us in Welsh or English / cysylltwch â ni’n 
Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(5)-13-20 PTN1

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2a



Page 2 of 4 – Capacity of the Senedd - Please contact us in Welsh or English / Cysylltwch â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n 
Saesneg. 

weaknesses in its drafting that could have been addressed at Bill stage had Senedd 
capacity – and hence time and depth of scrutiny – been greater.  

Since its passing, Audit Wales and the Senedd Commission have had to spend 
resources on dealing with the Act’s defects, such as its excessively complex and 
onerous fee provisions, which cause somewhere in the region of £35,000 a year in 
additional fee administration (about 10% of the total cost of such administration). 
Both Audit Wales and the Senedd Commission have also spent time and money 
(including on legal advice) in order to deal with the Act’s rather disjointed 
appointment and remuneration provisions. Further work has included developing 
proposals for remedial amendments where the Finance Committee has had to devote 
a considerable amount of its scarce time to the development of draft legislative 
proposals to address accepted weaknesses in the Act. More effective scrutiny at the 
pre-legislative and legislative stages, allowing more weight to be given to the views of 
those responsible for implementing the legislation, could have avoided the need for 
such additional work. 

Issues of insufficient scrutiny are not confined to the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2013. A 
common theme that arises in the course of audit work is that not enough 
consideration is given to the practicalities of implementing policy. In 2019-20, I 
published four reports on how local authorities are responding to the challenge of 
implementing new legislation: Local planning authority services, The new ‘Front Door’ 
to adult social care, Review of Public Service Boards (PSBs) and Progress in 
implementing the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
(VAWDASV). Each of these reports identified difficulties faced by local authorities 
and their public sector partners in implementing their new responsibilities. And in our 
forthcoming briefing, Better law making: the implementation challenge (to be 
published shortly), we draw common themes from these reports to highlight the 
importance of the Welsh Government and the Senedd considering the ability of 
bodies to implement legislation in practice. 

Key aspects of scrutiny of proposals for new legislation are its likely cost and impact. 
The main vehicle for this is the Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) included in a 
Bill’s Explanatory Memorandum. While the quality of the RIA for a Government Bill is 
first and foremost a matter for Welsh Ministers, Senedd scrutiny is essential for 
ensuring that it is realistic and that the legislation is affordable and effective.  

My predecessor noted shortcomings in RIAs, particularly unrealistic cost estimates, 
and reported on them in the case of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Bill. Since then, further examples of lack of realism in RIAs have become apparent. 
For example, in relation to the Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence (Wales) Act, it is apparent that the RIA did not sufficiently recognise the 
circumstances public bodies face in terms of increasingly constrained budgets and 
reducing capacity. While the RIA estimated the costs for local authorities and health 
boards to carry out mapping and production of local strategies at £220,000, it was not 
clear as to how that work would actually be resourced. More effective scrutiny of 

Pack Page 2



Page 3 of 4 – Capacity of the Senedd - Please contact us in Welsh or English / Cysylltwch â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n 
Saesneg. 

these important issues at Bill stage could have avoided some of the subsequent 
difficulties seen in implementation.  

Greater capacity for scrutiny is also needed to increase the alignment and integration 
of different pieces of legislation. We have found that often—for example in my report 
The Effectiveness of Local Planning Authorities in Wales—because the requirements 
of different pieces of legislation are not aligned, there is limited integration and 
collaboration of services, which leads to fragmented and inefficient service delivery. 
Greater scrutiny capacity in the Senedd would enable more rigorous and consistent 
consideration of the connections and relationships between different pieces of 
legislation and testing of the degree to which they have been aligned and integrated 
in Government proposals.  

Question 2: Would things be different if the Assembly had more Members? If so, 
how? 

With the current 60 Members, non-ministerial Members need to undertake multiple 
roles, including multiple committee memberships. This reduces the time individual 
Members can devote to any given portfolio and the degree to which they develop 
specialist policy knowledge.  

Having more Members should enable non-ministerial Members to have fewer 
committee memberships, so providing more opportunity to reflect fully on research 
and evidence ahead of meetings and develop deeper subject expertise. The 
questioning of the Government’s plans and activities should as a result be better 
informed, and consequently the Government would need to respond with more 
carefully designed policies, legislation, implementation and delivery.  

Additional capacity would also allow the Senedd to undertake aspects of best 
practice parliamentary scrutiny that are difficult to accommodate at present. In my 
recent report on the extent to which public bodies have followed the sustainable 
development principle of the Well-being of Future Generations Act 20151, for 
example, I recommended that the Senedd undertake some post-legislative 
examination of the Act. Post-legislative scrutiny is widely recognised as a desirable 
and important part of the work of an effective legislature, but it undeniably requires 
considerable dedication of Member time and capacity if it is to be achieved.  

Quantifying the benefit of improved scrutiny is clearly very difficult to do. As noted 
above, we estimate that the cost of sub-optimal scrutiny of the Public Audit (Wales) 
Act 2013 led to about £35,000 of additional annual unnecessary fee administration 
expenditure (some 10% of the total of such expenditure). This cannot be extrapolated 
to all Welsh Government expenditure because most such expenditure does not relate 
directly to Welsh legislation. Nonetheless, it is illustrative of the maxim that ‘good 

 
1 So, what’s different? Findings from the Auditor General’s Sustainable Development Principle 
Examinations May 2020 

Pack Page 3



Page 4 of 4 – Capacity of the Senedd - Please contact us in Welsh or English / Cysylltwch â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n 
Saesneg. 

scrutiny means good legislation, and good legislation pays for itself.2” The costs and 
implications of policy and spending decisions taken by the Welsh Government and 
Senedd are significant. With that in mind, it is important to recognise that a 0.17% 
annual saving, or improvement in value, in Welsh Government spending (£17.5bn), 
would pay for 30 extra members (at £10 million a year in total, including support 
costs3).  

I hope that these views are helpful. In view of potential interest to their respective 
committees, I am copying this letter to the Chairs of PAC and the Finance 
Committee.   

Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
ADRIAN CROMPTON 
Auditor General for Wales 

 

 
2 Commission on Devolution in Wales, Empowerment and Responsibility: Financial Powers to 
Strengthen Wales 2014 
3 A Parliament that works for Wales, November 2017, estimates total recurring cost of 30 additional 
members at £9.64 million, including member and support staff salaries, accommodation, training, 
broadcasting, IT and IT support. 

Pack Page 4



Shan Morgan  
Ysgrifennydd Parhaol 
Permanent Secretary 

Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 
Caerdydd ● Cardiff 

CF10 3NQ 

Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 025 3289 
PS.PermanentSecretary@gov.wales 
Gwefan ● Website: www.gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn 
Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  Dilynwch y ddolen i gael arweiniad ar sut fyddwn yn trin a defnyddio'ch data, yn unol â'r Rheoliadau Diogelu Data 
Cyffredinol.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. Please follow the link for guidance on how we will handle & use your data, in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en 

Mr N Ramsay MS 
Chair, Public Accounts Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 
Cardiff Bay 
CF99 1NA 

 19 May 2020 

Welsh Government approach to responding to the public health crisis 

Thank you for the opportunity recently for me to brief the Committee on how we were 

responding to the current public health crisis.  I hope that the Committee found the 

session helpful.  I will be writing shortly with the further information which I promised to 

supply. 

I am sorry that the connection difficulties at my end meant that the Committee had a late 

start to the session and I am very grateful to the Commission staff who stepped in to 

help me overcome the technical difficulties.   I appreciate that the delay meant that the 

Committee needed to go straight into questions from Members.  There were a few 

points which I had wanted to make at the start of the session about our strategic 

approach which time did not allow for so I am setting them out in this follow-up letter 

instead. 

Firstly I would like to pay tribute to the Welsh Government civil service.  The response 

from staff at all levels to this crisis has been magnificent.  People have been redeployed 

to very different roles sometimes overnight and very many of them are working 

extremely long hours each day, including weekends.  I could not have asked for a better 

response from the organisation.  Both the First Minister and I share a concern for the 

welfare of everyone, both because of the pace at which staff are having to work and 

Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committe 
PAC(5)-13-20 PTN2

Pack Page 5

Agenda Item 2b

http://www.gov.wales/
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en


 

 
Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 

Caerdydd ● Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ  

 
Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 025 3289 
PS.PermanentSecretary@gov.wales 
Gwefan ● Website: www.gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn 
Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  Dilynwch y ddolen i gael arweiniad ar sut fyddwn yn trin a defnyddio'ch data, yn unol â'r Rheoliadau Diogelu Data 
Cyffredinol.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. Please follow the link for guidance on how we will handle & use your data, in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en 

from the impact of lockdown upon them.  I and my senior team are doing everything that 

we can to help our staff through this difficult period. 

 

These are extraordinary times where events are complex and fast-moving.  There is no 

part of our economy or community life which has been left untouched by this crisis.   

Life has become very different for us all since the start of lockdown on 23 March.  Doing 

business remotely has become normal for all of us and (apart from the occasional glitch, 

as I discovered at the Committee session) is working very successfully.  The Committee 

will know that last year the Welsh Government invested in a major upgrade of our IT 

equipment.   I have always believed in investing in good ICT which is why I wanted to 

press ahead with the improvements but I do not think that I have ever seen such a 

reward on investment as we see now, where almost all of our staff are working from 

home using their new equipment.  I am not sure how we could have managed without 

that investment in new equipment and the corresponding training in making best use of 

it. 

 

When it first became clear that we were dealing with a very serious public health crisis 

which was going to affect all aspects of the Welsh Government, I had three major 

concerns as Permanent Secretary and Principal Accounting Officer.  My first concern 

was how the civil service could respond swiftly and flexibly so as to give Ministers the 

support that they needed to respond to the crisis effectively for the people of Wales.  My 

second concern was how we could do this while still maintaining proper control and 

accountability for public money.   And my third concern was for the wellbeing of our 

staff. 

 

I also felt that there were, and still are, three major risks for me as Accounting Officer.  

The first risk is that in our haste to bring in measures in response to the crisis we do not 

deliver good value for the taxpayer, either because the measures themselves do not 

give value for money or because we fail to implement them effectively.  The second risk 

is that we do not keep control of our overall budget because accumulated spending 

commitments become more than we will be able to afford.  And the third risk is that we 

fall prey to fraudsters seeking to take advantage of the fact that we are working at pace 

and with streamlined procedures. 

 

This crisis has come hard on the heels of the work which we did last year to prepare for 

the possibility of a no-deal Brexit and we have sought to use the learning from that 

experience.  One of the lessons which came out of that was the value of having at 

official level a senior co-ordinating group which has all my senior team on it plus 

representatives from each of the key areas of activity.  So I established the ExCovid 

group, which I have already told the Committee about, which meets twice a week.   

Pack Page 6

http://www.gov.wales/
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en


 

 
Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 

Caerdydd ● Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ  

 
Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 025 3289 
PS.PermanentSecretary@gov.wales 
Gwefan ● Website: www.gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn 
Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  Dilynwch y ddolen i gael arweiniad ar sut fyddwn yn trin a defnyddio'ch data, yn unol â'r Rheoliadau Diogelu Data 
Cyffredinol.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. Please follow the link for guidance on how we will handle & use your data, in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en 

 

Under the leadership and guidance of Ministers, ExCovid is the strategic clearing house 

for sharing information, keeping track of progress, checking we have identified and are 

responding to the issues of the day, and making sure we are deploying our resources 

as effectively as we can. All the Additional Accounting Officers whom I have appointed 

are members of ExCovid and an important role of the group is to provide a forum where 

we can identify Accounting Officer issues as they arise, make sure that we are 

consistent in our responses, and discuss the actions and processes which we need to 

put in place.  
 

It was clear that the Welsh Government was going to have to take decisions and then 

proceed to implement them at a speed which we would not normally contemplate.  

There simply was not going to be time on occasions for the normal kind of 

consideration, analysis and careful documentation beforehand.  I felt that as Principal 

Accounting Officer I needed to recognise that fact but also to avoid the risk of 

descending into actions which were not thought-through or where we could not 

demonstrate subsequently that we were using public money properly.  So I wrote to all 

of my Additional Accounting Officers telling them that I wanted them to increase 

selectively their appetite for risk but to also recognise that it was still important to use 

public money properly and where the full documentation to justify a decision could not 

be provided beforehand in the usual way it was important for there to be a retrospective 

account made.   

 

We have had on occasions to take decisions in relation to our Accounting Officer 

responsibilities within hours when we would usually expect to have days to consider the 

issue carefully and of course we accept that that is a necessary part of dealing with the 

crisis at the speed required.  This is a once-in-a-century pandemic situation so we 

should accept that we have to adapt our usual approach.  We are dealing on a daily 

basis with issues which it would normally take months to resolve – as an example, it 

took 11 days to set up and equip the field hospital in the Principality Stadium.  It would 

normally take about 11 years to build a new hospital.   

 

Despite all of this we are maintaining our core financial processes which are still robust, 

we are identifying and treating risks as they emerge and we are maintaining proper 

audit trails, albeit that the some of them are having to be created retrospectively.   

 

It is a sad fact of life that some unscrupulous people see a crisis like this as an 

opportunity for fraud and we are very mindful of this risk and doing all that we can to 

mitigate it, working together with activities which H M Treasury in London are co-

ordinating.  We have kept our counter-fraud team in place and have issued revised 

Pack Page 7

http://www.gov.wales/
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en


 

 
Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 

Caerdydd ● Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ  

 
Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 025 3289 
PS.PermanentSecretary@gov.wales 
Gwefan ● Website: www.gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn 
Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  Dilynwch y ddolen i gael arweiniad ar sut fyddwn yn trin a defnyddio'ch data, yn unol â'r Rheoliadau Diogelu Data 
Cyffredinol.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. Please follow the link for guidance on how we will handle & use your data, in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en 

guidance to staff.    We are also sharing our guidance and learning on counter-fraud 

with the rest of the public service in Wales. 

 

We maintain a strong communication channel with our public bodies and we share with 

them on a regular basis the guidance which we are issuing, relating to issues such as 

accounts preparation, AGMs, furlough concerns and application, public sector pay and 

remuneration, and pensions.  We have also helped to facilitate key worker identification 

and redeployment of staff across the public service.  While we recognise that our public 

bodies will still be accountable themselves for issues arising in their own areas we are 

very pleased to share our learning and experience with them and to learn from them as 

well. 

 

We have issued revised guidance to staff on a range of Accounting Officer issues such 

as grants management, procurement and cash management.  This guidance is all 

intended to ensure that we adopt a uniform approach across the whole organisation and 

to assist staff to concentrate on the essentials while working at pace.  To assist further, 

many of our finance professional staff are now focussed almost entirely on providing 

help and advice in relation to the Covid response, with some of them bedded out in 

those parts of the office with particular challenges. 

 

It is vital that we keep track of all aspects of spending in relation to the crisis and we 

have introduced a process specifically designed for identifying and recording this 

expenditure.  Our Treasury Department has responsibility for keeping track overall on 

spending commitments, advising on affordability, and liaising at official level with H M 

Treasury about the evolving position on additional resources which the UK Government 

is making available 

 

Across the Welsh Government a many staff have been moved, sometimes overnight, to 

either lead or support the new work.  We have needed to staff our Emergency Control 

room on a rota basis. Inevitably some other work which is important but less 

immediately pressing has had to be postponed.    As we look ahead to the Recovery 

Programme alongside dealing with immediate virus issues we are going to have to 

juggle the allocation of staff to make sure that we can continue to make proper progress 

on Ministerial priorities and serve the people of Wales.  This will be a challenge for us 

but I recognise that it is vital that we start to look beyond the current crisis and prepare 

for life afterwards. 

 

 

Pack Page 8

http://www.gov.wales/
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en


 

 
Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 

Caerdydd ● Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ  

 
Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 025 3289 
PS.PermanentSecretary@gov.wales 
Gwefan ● Website: www.gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn 
Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  Dilynwch y ddolen i gael arweiniad ar sut fyddwn yn trin a defnyddio'ch data, yn unol â'r Rheoliadau Diogelu Data 
Cyffredinol.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. Please follow the link for guidance on how we will handle & use your data, in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en 

When we do come out of these hugely difficult and challenging circumstances there will 

be much that we will have learned as an organisation.  I am determined that we will 

make sure that we make use of that learning in the future. 

 

I am copying this letter to the Chair of the Welsh Government Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee and the Auditor General for Wales. 
 

           
 

 
 
 
 
Shan Morgan  
Ysgrifennydd Parhaol/ Permanent Secretary 
Llywodraeth Cymru/ Welsh Government  

 

Pack Page 9

http://www.gov.wales/
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en


Shan Morgan  
Ysgrifennydd Parhaol 
Permanent Secretary 

Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 
Caerdydd ● Cardiff 

CF10 3NQ 

Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 025 3289 
PS.PermanentSecretary@gov.wales 
Gwefan ● Website: www.gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn 
Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  Dilynwch y ddolen i gael arweiniad ar sut fyddwn yn trin a defnyddio'ch data, yn unol â'r Rheoliadau Diogelu Data 
Cyffredinol.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. Please follow the link for guidance on how we will handle & use your data, in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en 

Mr N Ramsay AM 
Chair, Public Accounts Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 
Cardiff Bay 
CF99 1NA 

1 June 2020 

Covid-19 

Thank you again for the time the committee was able to devote to the important matter 

of how the Welsh Government is responding to the Covid-19 crisis.  As agreed I have 

attached: 

 Details of the role and remit for the ExCovid group which oversees and co-

ordinate the actions of the Welsh Government civil service in responding to the

current crisis – annex A.

 The processes and proposals Internal audit have/will carry out in financial years

2019-20 and 2020-21 – annex B; and

 The diagram outlining the Welsh Governments governance framework for

dealing with all things Covid-19, which I referred to during the PAC but was not

able to share via video link – annex C.

I will write separately to Committee members as soon as I am able to do so on the 

report into letters sent to incorrect addresses from the Information Commissioners 

Office and the results of the Crisis Survey Response. 

Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(5)-13-20 PTN3

Pack Page 10

http://www.gov.wales/
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en


 

 
Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 

Caerdydd ● Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ  

 
Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 025 3289 
PS.PermanentSecretary@gov.wales 
Gwefan ● Website: www.gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn 
Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  Dilynwch y ddolen i gael arweiniad ar sut fyddwn yn trin a defnyddio'ch data, yn unol â'r Rheoliadau Diogelu Data 
Cyffredinol.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. Please follow the link for guidance on how we will handle & use your data, in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en 

 
 
 
 
Shan Morgan  
Ysgrifennydd Parhaol/ Permanent Secretary 
Llywodraeth Cymru/ Welsh Government  

Pack Page 11

http://www.gov.wales/
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en


 

 
Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 

Caerdydd ● Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ  

 
Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 025 3289 
PS.PermanentSecretary@gov.wales 
Gwefan ● Website: www.gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn 
Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  Dilynwch y ddolen i gael arweiniad ar sut fyddwn yn trin a defnyddio'ch data, yn unol â'r Rheoliadau Diogelu Data 
Cyffredinol.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. Please follow the link for guidance on how we will handle & use your data, in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en 

Annex A 
 

ExCovid Terms of Reference 
Role 
To oversee and co-ordinate the actions of the Welsh Government civil service to ensure 
delivery of key policy and operational objectives and so provide effective support to 
Ministers to assist them in dealing with the Covid-19 crisis.  This includes; 

 Providing assurance to the Permanent Secretary that the civil service is doing all 

it can to help manage the Covid-19 crisis and is meeting the expectations of 

Ministers 

 Ensuring delivery of the Welsh Government’s critical policy and operational 
priorities 

 Overseeing and reviewing the wider portfolio of policy delivery to ensure it meets 
the needs of the Covid-19 crisis and is delivered effectively; 

 Ensuring clear prioritisation of work on Covid19 and identifying and removing 

areas of duplication of effort and activity: and  

 Developing clear strategic vision for policy evolution, including into the recovery 

phase 

The requirement for speed of decision-making means that sometimes the Permanent 
Secretary or other senior staff will need to take decisions outside of meetings of 
ExCovid.  In these cases, the decisions will be reported back to ExCovid at the next 
possible opportunity. 
ExCovid is the strategic decision making forum on Covid-19 Policy response that 
supports the Permanent Secretary as Principal Policy Advisor to the First Minister, 
Principal Accounting Officer and Head of the Welsh Government civil service to monitor 
and lead the Welsh Government response to the Coronavirus – Covid-19.   
Membership 
Normal ExCo members plus Reg Kilpatrick or representative; CMO or representative; 
Toby Mason or representative; Tim Render; Head of COVID-19 Project Team or 
representative. 
Frequency of Meetings 
Meetings will normally take place at least once a week and as often as necessary. 
Members will be given the opportunity to attend remotely. 
Secretariat 
The Secretariat will be provided by the COVID-19 Project Team 
 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 12

http://www.gov.wales/
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en


 

 
Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 

Caerdydd ● Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ  

 
Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 025 3289 
PS.PermanentSecretary@gov.wales 
Gwefan ● Website: www.gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn 
Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  Dilynwch y ddolen i gael arweiniad ar sut fyddwn yn trin a defnyddio'ch data, yn unol â'r Rheoliadau Diogelu Data 
Cyffredinol.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. Please follow the link for guidance on how we will handle & use your data, in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en 

Annex B 
 
INTERNAL AUDIT POSITION 
 
Financial Year 2019/20 

The programme of audit work for 2019/20 had been modified to allow Internal Audit to 

take account of changes arising from Brexit preparations.  Due to Brexit uncertainties in 

policy/business areas, a decision was taken to undertake more advisory assurance 

work on an agile basis as risks became clearer over the year and, instead, to focus 

audit work on core corporate finance systems and business processes.  A sufficient 

body of work was completed to allow the Head of Internal Audit to deliver an assurance 

for the year, despite the constraints on audit work during the final month of the financial 

year due to Covid19.      

 

Financial Year 2020/21 

1. Background  

Before March 2020, Internal Audit had undertaken a significant update of its “Audit 

Needs Assessment” to identify the areas of WG activity it wished to review during 

2020/21.  However, following the outbreak of Covid19 and the significant impact this 

has had on all aspects of WG activity, the proposed plan of work has been revisited. 

 

2. Revised Audit Approach 

Most of the IAS resource has been redeployed to support aspects of emergency 

response across different parts of the organisation, on the basis it is no longer 

possible to carry out audit work as planned.  However, a core team of internal 

auditors has been left in place to carry on with audit and assurance activities during 

the Covid emergency. 

The objective of this IA “Core Team” is to support and advise on new measures 

arising from the Covid-19 crisis and to gain assurance on the changes being made 

to the frameworks for governance, risk management and internal control.  These 

include new structures/forums being established, modifications to existing systems 

or processes, changes to delegations and controls and new funding arrangements. 

 The Core Team will provide assurance on the various new initiatives to tackle 

different aspects of the crisis and also provide assurance whether the measures 

taken are designed and managed with full regard for propriety, regularity and value 

for money in respect of public spend.  Our key focus will be on the identification and 

management of risk.   

Pack Page 13

http://www.gov.wales/
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en


 

 
Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 

Caerdydd ● Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ  

 
Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 025 3289 
PS.PermanentSecretary@gov.wales 
Gwefan ● Website: www.gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn 
Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  Dilynwch y ddolen i gael arweiniad ar sut fyddwn yn trin a defnyddio'ch data, yn unol â'r Rheoliadau Diogelu Data 
Cyffredinol.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. Please follow the link for guidance on how we will handle & use your data, in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en 

In term of audit approach, “observation” has long been a valid tool for auditors to use 

to obtain assurance.  Its use has reduced the more processes and controls have 

become computerised and then digitised.  However, this is absolutely the correct 

audit tool to deploy during an emergency situation.  The core IAS team can generate 

assurance on the changes agreed to address Covid-19 by “observing” the audit trail 

for major decisions, including new documentation being generated and corporate 

messages being circulated to give direction and set expectations.  It can also obtain 

assurance by observing key committees and by undertaking business process 

reviews on new arrangement put in place.  In effect, this generates “real time” 

assurance.   

It also provides the opportunity for Internal Audit to identify “lessons learned” which 

are being captured as they are identified.  When necessary, recommendations are 

being made by Internal Audit as issues are identified.  Other lessons are being 

captured for later lessons learned exercises to contribute to the improvement of 

processes and procedures.   

In addition to observation, at the appropriate opportunity, we will also deploy a more 

“transactional” approach (supported by data analytics) to check retrospectively the 

application of modified delegations and internal controls and to identify any 

anomalies or concerns.  Some of this work may require data sharing with other 

public bodies and we are already engaged with the WAO to explore how this might 

be achieved via the expansion of the National Fraud Initiate data share. 

The WG anti-fraud capability is being maintained and the Counter Fraud service has 

already produced a pro-active fraud awareness guide and is contributing currently to 

a new Security Bulletin focusing on cyber-based fraud and other cyber risks arising 

during Covid19.  

We are also keeping in close contact with the WAO, our professional institute (the 

IIA), the Internal Audit Standards Advisory Board (IASAB) which is responsible for 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the Government Internal Audit 

Profession (GIAP) for “head of profession” guidance and to share our respective 

approaches to assurance.  To date we are in reasonable alignment with our GIAP 

colleagues. 

We recognise: 

 The IAS redeployments are in an “executive” capacity so we cannot maintain our 

usual level of independence and objectivity as auditors – this can only be done 

by the remaining Core Team – but we already have protocols in place to manage 

any such conflicts of interest effectively and will use these experiences to 

contribute to any future lessons learned exercises. 

Pack Page 14

http://www.gov.wales/
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en


 

 
Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 

Caerdydd ● Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ  

 
Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 025 3289 
PS.PermanentSecretary@gov.wales 
Gwefan ● Website: www.gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn 
Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  Dilynwch y ddolen i gael arweiniad ar sut fyddwn yn trin a defnyddio'ch data, yn unol â'r Rheoliadau Diogelu Data 
Cyffredinol.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. Please follow the link for guidance on how we will handle & use your data, in accordance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations.  https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en 

 The remaining Core Team is very small and we cannot be sure, at this stage, 

whether it will be sufficient to maintain effective oversight of all governance and 

control changes but we will keep this under constant review. 

 We may struggle to keep our “business intelligence” about new measures up-to-

date.  We will rely on senior officials and decision-makers to let us know about 

key changes to governance and control arrangements.  However, by keeping in 

close contact with Finance and Governance colleagues and the Operations 

Directors, we do not expect this to be a significant challenge based on our 

experience to date. 

 

3. “Business as Usual” 

Now IAS has organised its response to the Covid19 emergency and we have an 

understanding how the organisation is responding, we intend to undertake a review 

of the work we would otherwise have done during 2020/21 to identify: 

 any regulatory audits which we must still undertake (such as the annual pensions 

audit review); 

 key areas of “normal” activity which are still continuing which were flagged for 

audit during 2020/21 and which still warrant inclusion in this year’s audit 

programme. 

We will need to ensure audits on these areas can still form part of the audit 

programme for the year, in order to provide a competent audit opinion at the end of 

the current financial year. 

 

 

Pack Page 15

http://www.gov.wales/
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?skip=1&lang=cy
https://gov.wales/about/welsh-government-privacy-notice/?lang=en


Tracey Burke 
Cyfarwyddwr Cyffredinol / Director General 

Y Grŵp Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus 
Education and Public Services Group 

Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 
Caerdydd ● Cardiff 

CF10 3NQ 

Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 0258047 
tracey.burke@gov.wales 

Gwefan ● website: www.wales.gov.uk 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. 

Nick Ramsay MS 
Chair of the Public Accounts Committee 
National Assembly for Wales  
Cardiff Bay  
CF99 1NA  

28 May 2020 

Dear Mr Ramsay, 

THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE – HOUSING ADAPTATIONS 
UPDATE – MAY 2020 

Thank you for your letter of 29 April.  I am pleased to provide an update on the 
implementation of outstanding recommendations 3 and 5, including clarification as to how 
the work has evolved since the last update in July 2019. 

Recommendation 3 
The Housing Adaptations Steering Group (HASG) has proposed that means testing should 
not be applied to less complex (small and medium) adaptations or individuals receiving 
palliative/end of life care.  Prior to consulting on this option however, the HASG believe 
there is a need to provide evidence on the potential cost of removing the means test for 
small and medium adaptations and the potential impact on demand. Whilst the baseline 
cost of removing the means test can be calculated from local authority data on existing 
client contributions to Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) funded adaptations (for 2018/19), it is 
not known what impact removing the means test would have on increasing demand for 
DFGs. An increase in demand could result in longer waiting times for DFGs and additional 
financial burdens on local authorities.  

As a consequence, we commissioned the Welsh Centre for Public Policy to provide such 
evidence, including exploring the feasibility of removing the means test for larger 
adaptations. This would have necessarily involved significant engagement with local 
authorities. However, due to the refocussing of our and local authority resources to tackle 
the current Covid-19 pandemic, the work of the HASG has been paused and this research 
has not been able to progress as planned. We will, of course, review this position as a 
matter of urgency as soon as it is feasible to do so. 

Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(5)-13-20 PTN4

Pack Page 16

Agenda Item 2c

mailto:tracey.burke@gov.wales
http://www.wales.gov.uk/


 
Recommendation 5 
One of the proposals agreed by the Minister for Housing and Local Government was for 
officials to undertake a programme of work through the HASG to provide an overarching 
strategic framework for the planning and provision of housing adaptations by all providers in 
the seven Local Health Board areas of Wales. The Framework is intended to implement an 
integrated multi-agency approach, with a focus on prevention, equity, and clear pathways 
into services. The Guidance to accompany such a Framework would provide direction for all 
service providers and funding streams, including Enable. For this reason, we decided not to 
issue separate guidance for Enable at this time, but to incorporate a requirement to 
integrate with other service providers in their Terms and Conditions of grant. 
 
The HASG set up a Task and Finish Group to take this work forward. The Group met three 
times and was due to present an outline Framework to the HASG at its meeting in June. 
However, this work has also been paused due to the Covid-19 emergency. 
 
In relation to changes in local authority practice on means testing, the initial work consisted 
of a workshop session with stakeholders in July 2019 which concluded more evidence was 
needed, as noted above under Recommendation 3. The lack of historical data has been a 
barrier to understanding trends in changing practice. The High-level analysis of data on 
housing adaptations 2018-19 which we published in December 2019 shows that local 
authorities delivered over 16,000 adaptations, of which just over 4,000 were DFGs. 
Administrative data provided to the Welsh Government by local authorities shows that half 
of these (2,138) were subject to a means test. Over 12,000 local authority adaptations were 
provided under discretionary powers. The data analysis is published on the Welsh 
Government website:  
 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-01/housing-adaptations-analysis-
2018-2019.pdf 
 
Turning to the wider review of adaptations (or ‘systems review’ as we have referred to it 
previously), this now consists of three connected pieces of work. The first has been to 
establish service standards which apply to all adaptations, irrespective of tenure, provider or 
source of funding. This has been in force since April 2019. The second is to review the 
policy on means testing and implement changes, which I have dealt with under 
Recommendation 3 above. The third is to establish a Strategic Planning Framework to 
integrate planning and delivery of adaptations at a regional level, as noted under 
Recommendation 5. Taken together, and underpinned by much improved annual reporting, 
this will significantly improve the consistency, equity and quality of adaptations services. 
 
It is unfortunate that the present public health emergency has had an impact on our 
continuing review of adaptations. However, it is important to note the valuable work 
undertaken by adaptations providers in recent weeks, helping to facilitate early discharges 
from hospital and relieving pressures on the health and care system. Providers have 
responded positively to guidance we issued, often working in very difficult and sensitive 
circumstances: Guidance to care and repair agencies, local authorities and registered social 
landlords providing housing adaptations: coronavirus (COVID-19) 
 
I would be happy to provide the Committee with a further update on developments as 
matters progress or to provide clarification on any of the above. 
 
 
 
 Pack Page 17

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-01/housing-adaptations-analysis-2018-2019.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-01/housing-adaptations-analysis-2018-2019.pdf
https://gov.wales/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-to-care-and-repair-agencies-local-authorities-and-registered-social-landlords-providing-housing-adaptations
https://gov.wales/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-to-care-and-repair-agencies-local-authorities-and-registered-social-landlords-providing-housing-adaptations


Finally, may I take this opportunity to wish you, your fellow Committee Members and the 
Committee Secretariat well during this most difficult time for us all.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 

 
 
 
Tracey Burke 
 
 
 

Pack Page 18



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 19

Agenda Item 3By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Public Accounts Committee Hearing 8 June 2020 

Welsh Government support for business in response to Covid-19 

Introduction 

We are living in extraordinary times. The health, economic and social implications of 

Covid-19 are far-reaching and profound, and have required an unprecedented 

response from government.  Our overarching policy objectives are to protect lives, 

communities, and businesses. We are still in the middle of our emergency response 

work, including to safeguard Welsh business, and jobs and employment 

opportunities for the people of Wales. 

The UK Government has announced (up to 15 May 2020) support totalling £124.3 

billion to support the economy. Annex 1 provides a summary of the main schemes 

announced by the UK Government. Welsh Ministers have agreed funding of £1.7 

billion since March 2020 to support Welsh businesses and the Welsh economy 

through these turbulent times. The measures being delivered are complimentary to 

the schemes launched by the UK Government and address gaps identified which are 

specific to the needs of the Welsh economy.  

Economy Skills and Natural Resources (ESNR) Group has repurposed and diverted 

significant resource at speed to help deliver the Welsh Government’s response to 

Covid-19. As well as providing urgent and substantial support to tens of thousands of 

businesses and safeguarding jobs, our response has included developing our 

internal governance environment to ensure we continued to make safe decisions on 

the use of public funds in these unprecedented times.   

This paper covers the current financial position in terms of funding for businesses, 

social enterprises and charities to help the Public Accounts Committee understand 

the Welsh Government’s commitments and spending on the C-19 response. The 

paper is organised in the following sections: 

Section 1: The economic context arising from Covid-19 within which the Welsh 

Government had to act. 

Section 2: The policy context within which the Welsh Government considered 

providing financial support to business as part of our economic response to Covid-

19, including a gap analysis of support mechanisms 

Section 3: The economic interventions made by the Welsh Government as part of 

our economic response to Covid-19. 

Section 4: The changes made to the governance and accountability frameworks in 

the Welsh Government to support and manage our economic interventions. 

Section 1- Economic Context 

Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(5)13-20 P1

Pack Page 47



Covid-19 has triggered an international and national economic crisis, and the pace at 

which unfolded – and continues to unfold – is breath taking.  In particular, the 

situation in the few weeks of the crisis was unprecedented in modern times, with the 

rate of potential redundancies or business closures rising exponentially on an hourly 

basis. The lockdown measures needed to curtail the spread of the pandemic caused 

a fundamental and severe shock to the economy.  This required a direct and 

immediate response from the UK Government and the Welsh Government to prevent 

crisis turning into a disaster from which many businesses would not survive, with 

devastating consequences for jobs and livelihoods across Wales, and the future of 

our economy.   

Overall, the OBR estimate that UK real GDP will fall by 35% between April and June 

and 12.8% in 2020. This would be a much larger fall than that seen at any point 

during the financial crisis. An illustrative scenario presented by the Bank of England 

predicts that the UK economy will rebound in the second half of 2020 and into 2021 

as social distancing measures are gradually lifted.  

In addition, there were 113,000 new Universal Credit claimants declared in Wales 

between 17 March and 12 May (though not all will go on to receive a payment). Both 

household consumption (down by 30% in April)  and business investment figures 

have fallen significantly from previous quarters with household spending in sectors of 

transport and restaurants (+50%) being the hardest hit.  This data is supported by 

ongoing intelligence from businesses and communities across Wales. 

The economic impacts of Covid 19 have occurred in waves, starting with the self 

employed, hospitality, retail and tourism.  This quickly spread to aerospace, 

automotive and wider manufacturing, within days.  There is now no part of the 

economy that is untouched by the Covid 19 crisis.  The uncertainty at how the 

disease will evolve further compounds the difficulties for an already unstable 

economy. 

As plans are developed for Wales and the UK to emerge from lockdown, the 

situation remains fluid, with ongoing uncertainty and businesses and jobs remaining 

at risk.  

The range of business experiences during this crisis will be on a continuum:  

- those that have had to cease trading; 

- those that may be able to go into medium term hibernation; 

- those that are able to adapt to remote ways of working; and 

- those who will continue trading because their business is critical to the 

functioning of the nation, and they can still operate legally and safely in 

relation to C-19 guidelines.  

The degree to which a business is exposed, and when, will vary according to a 

number of factors, including sector, size, customer base, workforce, cost base and 

location, all of which are impacted by the decisions taken on the scale and speed of 

easing the lockdown   Key costs which businesses need to meet include payroll, 

Pack Page 48



debt servicing, rent / lease, insurance, tax liabilities, security, essential maintenance 

and utilities. 

The Office for National Statistics Business Impacts of Coronavirus Survey estimated 

that 66 per cent of businesses in Wales that responded experienced a fall in turnover 

outside of normal range in the period April 20 to 3 May. This is the highest share of 

all UK nations.  

 

Section 2 - Policy Context 

Our overarching policy objectives are to protect lives, communities and businesses.  

Two intended outcomes are being sought from our economic interventions: 

Firstly, to help businesses survive the shock of sudden and significant drops in 

revenues resulting from the coronavirus pandemic and from the enforced lockdown 

measures necessary to control the spread of the virus;  

Secondly, by increasing the chances of business survival, to safeguard the jobs of 

the people employed. 

The complete collapse of a normal functioning society and economy created 

immediate cashflow pressures for many businesses as they faced a collapse in 

turnover. Support measures announced by the UK Government in the immediate 

aftermath, and subsequent changes to these, have provided partial coverage of cost 

pressures faced by businesses. The Welsh Government undertook a gap analysis 

within the support mechanisms being introduced, and considered this alongside the 

economic data and real time business intelligence from companies and employees 

across Wales.   This work was undertaken at pace and quickly established the clear 

need for additional targeted support to help businesses across Wales weather the 

economic hurricane.  Offering direct funding support to businesses is considered to 

be the best and most cost effective way of maintaining employment levels and 

adding to efforts to stabilise the economy a method we have used in the past when 

responding to the 2008 financial crisis. 

The economic proposals were developed to fit within the wider policy context of the 

Welsh Government, including the policy framework set out in our Economic Action 

Plan. Proportionate consideration was and continues to be given to the need to 

deploy public investment with a social purpose as set out in the economic contract, 

which includes an emphasis on fair work and climate change mitigation. 

Our economic interventions seek to implement a whole system approach to protect 

the economy and minimise the impact for the longer term.  Our approach is based on 

understanding how to best respond to the following business outcomes: 

 Step down in activity / Maintain critical economic  infrastructure (e.g. 

manufacturing) – response: SHORT TERM, MINIMISE IMPACT 

 Hibernate now to re-open later (e.g. many hospitality businesses) – response: 

MEDIUM TERM, SOFTEN IMPACT 

Pack Page 49



 Repurpose activity (e.g. restaurants selling to home delivery; manufacture of 

ventilators) – response: MEDIUM TERM, SOFTEN IMPACT 

 Expand activity (e.g. food retail) - response: MEDIUM TERM, SOFTEN 

IMPACT 

The overall economic impact is likely to be very significant, but potentially temporary 

and although the scale and duration of impact is difficult to predict, we anticipate the 

impact will fluctuate as Wales and the rest of the UK navigate our way out of 

lockdown.  It is also clear from the evidence (including business intelligence) that the 

economic impact of the lockdown will come in waves, and that over the longer term 

some sectors and sub-sectors may be more significantly affected than others (at 

least until a reliable vaccine and therapeutics for C-19 are developed and widely 

available). 

Over the medium and longer term, many businesses will face a fall in supply and 

demand. However, there is potential to protect capacity by enabling firms to 

‘hibernate’ over the crisis period and re-emerge quickly; and also to enable 

repurposing of firm activity to support health resource. 

The economic support schemes delivered by the Welsh Government have balanced 

the need to support business and jobs now, with the need to acknowledge further 

support may be required in coming months as the effects of the pandemic work 

through the different sectors of the economy.  They also take account of potential 

further waves of the virus, with the accompanying lockdown measures which may be 

needed, plus the ongoing challenge to the economy posed by EU exit – both of 

which may escalate as the year continues.  

 

Section 3 - Economic Interventions 

The main Welsh Government interventions for support to business are as follows. 

Economic intervention Scheme value £m 

Rates relief for retail, leisure and 
hospitality 

332 

£10k grants for businesses under £12k 
rateable value 

636 

Grants for retail, leisure and hospitality 
businesses with a rateable value 
between £12k-£51K (totalling no more 
than 25,000 grants) 

214 

Economic Resilience Fund (combination 
of direct grants and loans from the 
Development Bank of Wales) 

500 

Widening Scope of £10k grants to 
Community Amateur Sports Clubs and 
Charities 

26 

Total 1,708 

 

Pack Page 50



In addition to the above there have been a number of sector-specific interventions 

we have made to address particular issues within the fishing and dairy sectors, and 

the culture and creative sectors, for example. 

Ex Ante and Ex Post appraisals 

Given the unprecedented nature of the lockdown measures introduced in March 

2020, the overriding priority in establishing the Covid-19 non-domestic rates (NDR) 

grant schemes was pace of delivery and ensuring essential emergency financial 

support reached businesses in a speedy fashion 

This meant that a comprehensive ex ante appraisal, which would normally be 

associated with any intervention of this scale and value was not possible, given the 

urgent requirement for the grant schemes to become operational. Advice to Ministers 

recognised the anticipated risks with a scheme of this nature and its speed of 

deployment, setting those against the severe consequences of not acting. These 

risks have been managed as far as possible through appropriate mitigations, 

including as robust an appraisal as was practical and possible in the time available, 

and enhanced post award verification checks akin to those used by HMRC. 

Given the limiting factors that restricted a full ex ante appraisal, officials are now in 

the process of specifying an ex post assessment of the Covid-19 NDR grants and 

the Economic Resilience Fund. This will articulate the logic model in more detail and 

give initial consideration to the extent to which the intended outcomes are being met 

(albeit still in a live crisis situation) In attempting to address this latter point, 

counterfactual approaches will be considered. There are likely to be significant 

limitations to this work, not least unknown factors such as the effect of the virus on 

macro-economic conditions, how these might recover or evolve and over what  

timescale. This is likely to mean that both formative and in the longer term, 

summative approaches to the ex post assessment will be needed as well as 

consideration of any unintended or unforeseen outcomes. 

Business Rates Relief Schemes (NDR and grant scheme) 

In March 2020 Welsh Ministers announced further details of a business rate support 

scheme in Wales. This would provide support to ratepayers in Wales on an 

equivalent basis to those in England (with the exception of larger rateable properties)  

and all properties in the retail, leisure and hospitality sectors would receive 100% 

rates relief in 2020-21.  The scheme also provided for all ratepayers eligible for Small 

Business Rates Relief in Wales a £10,000 grant and all retail, leisure and hospitality 

ratepayers with a rateable value of between £12,000 and £51,000 would receive a 

£25,000 grant.   

This intervention placed ratepayers in Wales on an equal footing with counterparts in 

England with the exception of the 200 properties with a rateable value greater than 

£500,000 not receiving the relief. It provided immediate support and clarity for 

ratepayers with around 70,000 businesses and properties eligible for support; to date 

nearly 53,000 grants totalling £640m have been awarded working through our local 

authority partners in Wales. 

Pack Page 51



The schemes provided emergency relief for businesses affected by Covid 19, 

supporting continued trade and lowering the risk of job losses.  This supports the 

Well-Being of Future Generations’ objective of securing a prosperous Wales. The 

schemes also contribute to the Taking Wales Forward commitments to cut taxes for 

small businesses, reduce burdens on business as well as the Prosperity for All 

commitment to provide the right support to people and businesses.   

The rates relief scheme is operated by local authorities.  Officials from the Welsh 

Government worked closely with local government colleagues to compile figures for 

the amount of relief to be provided in each authority and how the scheme would be 

delivered to minimise the risk of fraud and error and to ensure deliverability.  This 

has been an excellent partnership.  

Economic Resilience Fund 

The Economic Resilience Fund (ERF), is a cross Government, pan economy fund 

aimed at  supporting employers and protecting employees.   It was designed to plug 

any significant remaining – and emerging - gaps to support eligible enterprises with 

the remaining fixed costs of remaining in operation, whilst suffering from a significant 

reduction in turnover as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. The Fund was designed 

to complement existing UK and Welsh Government support and is available to those 

not eligible for the above schemes or those still in difficulty having received the 

maximum funding available.  It is recognised that the Fund would not be able to 

support every business (there were around 267,000 businesses in Wales in 2019) so 

policy choices would need to be made.  

Where NDR was an immediate and urgent response in the days surrounding 

lockdown, the development of ERF allowed for a more considered view, examining 

impacts to sharpen the intervention and complement that support being provided by 

NDR and the UK-wide schemes. In view of the immediate cashflow pressures many 

businesses are facing across the economy due to a collapse in turnover, and the 

partial coverage of cost pressures by support measures announced to date, there is 

a clear need for ongoing support to rescue and sustain businesses across Wales.  

Offering direct funding support to businesses, charities and social enterprises is 

considered to be the best and most cost effective way of maintaining employment 

levels, adding to efforts to stabilise the economy. 

The Economic Resilience Fund provides businesses, social enterprises and charities  

due to separate support arrangements) with financial support, initially in the form of 

£200m non-repayable revenue funding support plus £100m financial transaction loan 

finance through the Development Bank of Wales (DBW). A further £100m of non-

repayable revenue support was subsequently added to the initial £200m at pace due 

to the phenomenal take-up of the first tranche of funding.  Ministers and officials 

reacted quickly to provide this additional funding from the overall £500m envelope. 

The Fund has been designed to ensure that it will be flexible, cross government and 

provide cross-sector support – including to social enterprises and charities.  All 

sectors of the economy will be impacted so the fund focuses on viable enterprises 

which are severely impacted and face significant pressures despite other support 

Pack Page 52



measures announced.  The Fund aims to provide short term support to mitigate cash 

flow pressures not addressed by other support being offered by the UK Government, 

Welsh Government and DBW – thereby acting as last port of call to sustain a good 

business into 2021. 

Of the £300m initially allocated to ERF, recognising the considerations outlined 

above, as well as employment factors, the Fund has been divided indicatively among 

business size categories as follows: 

• £240m for micro businesses employing between 1 and 9 people and for small 

and medium enterprises (SMEs) employing between 10 and 249 people 

• £60m (20%) for large businesses employing 250 people or more 

Delivery of the Fund has required a significant repurposing of resources in the Welsh 

Government.  Over 150 civil servants and contractors were redeployed at short 

notice, with bespoke training, to support the Economy and Transport Department in 

delivering the initial phase of the Fund.  More will be repurposed to perform further 

additional verification checks over the course of the summer, and to ensure funding 

offers made to businesses have been used for the purposes intended and by 

businesses eligible for support. The speed at which the scheme was established, 

launched and delivered demonstrates the very best qualities of the agile civil and 

public service we have in Wales. 

The emergency measures outlined above are in addition to those existing business 

support schemes delivered by the Welsh Government and DBW. 

Business Wales 

All of the above work is underpinned by our highly-regarded bilingual business 

advice and support platform and services, Business Wales.  This was originally 

launched in January 2013 and refreshed in January 2016 - designed to make it 

easier for Welsh micro-businesses and SMEs including social enterprises, plus 

aspiring entrepreneurs of all ages, to access the information, advice and support 

they require to start and grow their businesses. The service is funded through a 

combination of EU and domestic investment. 

Business Wales offers a combination of online, telephone, 1-2-many and 1-2-1 

business support which is tailored according to client need and the different regions 

of Wales, dependant on local requirements. Business Wales provides a range of 

general business advice, information and signposting as well as specialist strands of 

advice such as equality & diversity; resource efficiency; international trade; skills; 

procurement; and mentoring.  In addition to broadband exploitation and access to 

the Skills Gateway and Farming Connect. 

In response to Covid-19, Business Wales has adapted its business model at pace to 

deliver a virtual and telephony advisory service.  This includes a series of live 

webinars to address challenges around accessing finance, managing cashflow, 

digital capability and diversification, managing change to employment.  The breadth 

of topics is being extended to revaluate business models, alongside approaches to 

Pack Page 53



embed wellbeing in our advisory support and engagement with business 

communities. 

 

Section 4 - Governance and Accountability Considerations 

The unprecedented speed with which the Welsh Government had to respond to 

Covid-19 meant judgments as to whether to support specific businesses had to be 

made at record pace, with the real potential for imperfect information being available 

at the point of decision. This presented a number of Accounting Officer issues, and 

required a change to our overall governance framework to ensure the use of public 

funds was still subject to appropriate considerations of regularity, propriety, feasibility 

and value for money in the extraordinary context of Covid-19. 

In summary, in March our risk appetite for business support was specifically 

reviewed, especially around the need to manage delivering large scale interventions 

at pace with incomplete information. This culminated in a letter from the Principal 

Accounting Officer to Additional Accounting Officers on 30 March setting out what 

these risks are and what we should consider tolerating whilst still being mindful of the 

AO duties to put proportionate safeguards in place. Because of the speed at which 

we were responding (and given our aim to protect as many businesses as possible) 

an increased level of risk with regard to fraud and error - or to businesses not being 

able to survive despite Welsh Government support - was accepted.  However, it was 

agreed that this would be mitigated as far as possible by using at least two point of 

verified ID data for example VAT.    

Much of the support provided by the Welsh Government to business is in the form of 

grant funding. Guidance was issued in March from the Grants Centre of Excellence 

putting in place a revised operational framework. This enabled grant managers to 

respond with alacrity to organisations suffering as part of Covid-19 by varying grant 

terms and conditions for existing grants, considering payments in advance of need or 

payments in advance of all verification checks which we would expect to undertake 

in normal operating conditions for example. One of the recommendations from 

previous PAC and WAO reports has been the need for officials to better document 

decisions at the time the decision was made. A new decisions template and 

guidance was circulated to ensure the key rationale for decisions made at pace was 

properly captured. 

Our business support schemes have also been developed with the aim of 

undertaking verification checks to ensure compliance with scheme rules by those 

who have received funding in slower time over the summer months. 

ERF has been delivered via a fully digitised application process from end to end. We 

have also been able to link reports between the application system and Welsh 

Government’s SAP finance system again to both maintain records and ensure end to 

end verification. 

Our procurement rules have also been revised in Wales. In March the Minister for 

Finance approved the adoption of PPN2 in Wales. This enabled officials to urgently 

Pack Page 54



review their contract portfolio and inform suppliers who they believe are at risk that 

they will continue to be paid as normal (even if service delivery is disrupted or 

temporarily suspended) until at least the end of June. 

The procurement notice also enabled us to put in place the most appropriate 

payment measures to support supplier cash flow; this might include a range of 

approaches such as forward ordering, payment in advance/prepayment, interim 

payments and payment on order (not receipt). If the contract involves payment by 

results then payment should be on the basis of previous invoices (for example the 

average monthly payment over the previous three months). 

There are checks built into this system. To qualify, suppliers should agree to act on 

an open book basis and make cost data available to the contracting authority during 

this period. They should continue to pay employees and flow down funding to their 

subcontractors. These changes aim to maintain cash flow in the supply chain and 

protect jobs.  

 

Conclusion 

In summary, Welsh Government has put in place and delivered, at pace and with 

appropriate protections and checks, a suite of extraordinary support measures in 

response to a crisis that is unprecedented in recent times.  We are still in the midst of 

that crisis, and work to develop and refine our approach continues in this very 

dynamic situation.     

  

  

Pack Page 55



Annex1 

 

Annex: summary of the schemes currently available (28 May 2020) 

 

Job Retention Scheme  

 

Employers can claim online for a grant for 80% of their furloughed employees’ 

salaries, up to a maximum of £2,500 per employee per month, plus the associated 

Employer National Insurance contributions and minimum automatic enrolment 

employer pension contributions on that wage. 

 

Self-Employment Income Support Scheme 

 

The Self-employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS) will support self-employed 

individuals (including members of partnerships) who have lost income due to 

coronavirus (COVID-19).  The scheme allows self-employed individuals to claim a 

taxable grant worth 80% of their trading profits up to a maximum of £2,500 per 

month  

 

HMRC will contact those who are eligible for the scheme and invite them to apply 

online. 

 

Business Interruption Loan Scheme  

 

The Coronavirus Business Interruption Loan Scheme (CBILS) is available via one of 

40 accredited finance providers and supports small and medium-sized enterprises 

(SMEs) (with an annual turnover of up to £45 million) to access loans, overdrafts, 

invoice finance and asset finance of up to £5 million for up to six years. 

 

The UK Government also makes a Business Interruption Payment to cover the first 

12 months of interest payments and any lender-levied fees for smaller businesses to 

benefit from no upfront costs and lower initial repayments. 

 

The UK Government provides lenders with a guarantee of 80% on each loan 

(subject to pre-lender cap on claims) to give lenders further confidence in continuing 

to provide finance to SMEs. The scheme is being delivered through commercial 

lenders, backed by the government-owned British Business Bank. 

 

Large Business Interruption Loan Scheme 

 

The Coronavirus Large Business Interruption Loan Scheme (CLBILS) provides a 

government guarantee of 80% to enable banks to make loans of up to £25 million to 

firms with an annual turnover of between £45 million and £500 million that would be 

otherwise unable to access the finance they need. 

 

Pack Page 56



This is intended to give banks the confidence to lend to many more businesses 

which are impacted by coronavirus. Facilities backed by a guarantee under CLBILS 

will be offered at commercial rates of interest.  The scheme is available through a 

series of accredited lenders.   

 

This scheme allows lenders to specifically support businesses that were viable 

before the Covid-19 outbreak but now face significant cash flow difficulties that would 

otherwise make their business unviable in the short term. 

 

The scheme will support a wide range of businesses to access finance products 

including short term loans, overdrafts, invoice finance and asset finance.  To be 

eligible, the business must: 

 

• Be UK-based in its business activity. 

• Have an annual turnover between £45 million and £500 million. 

• Be unable to secure regular commercial financing. 

• Have a borrowing proposal which the lender:  

 

o Would consider viable, were it not for the Covid-19 pandemic. 

o Believes will enable the business to trade out of any short-term to 

medium-term difficulty. 

 

Businesses from any sector can apply, except for the following: 

 

• Banks and building societies. 

• Insurers and reinsurers (but not insurance brokers). 

• Public-sector organisations, including state-funded primary and secondary 

schools. 

 

COVID-19 Corporate Financing Facility 

 

Under the Covid-19 Corporate Financing Facility, the Bank of England will buy short-

term debt from larger companies.  This will support companies that been affected by 

a short-term funding squeeze and allow them to finance their short-term liabilities.  It 

will also support corporate finance markets overall and ease the supply of credit to 

all firms. 

 

Innovative Firms 

 

A £1.25 billion package to protect firms driving innovation in UK.  Support includes: 

 

• £500 million Future Fund for high-growth companies impacted by the crisis, 

made up of funding from government and the private sector. 

 

• £750 million of grants and loans to support SMEs focusing on research and 

development. 

Pack Page 57



 

The Future Fund, delivered in partnership with the British Business Bank, will be 

launching in May and will provide UK-based companies with between £125,000 and 

£5 million from the government, with private investors at least matching the 

government commitment.  These loans will automatically convert into equity on the 

company’s next qualifying funding round, or at the end of the loan if they are not 

repaid.  

 

To be eligible, a business must be an unlisted UK registered company that has 

previously raised at least £250,000 in equity investment from third party investors in 

the last five years. 

 

The UK Government is committing an initial £250 million in funding towards the 

scheme which will initially be open until the end of September.   

 

The £750 million of targeted support for the most R&D intensive SMEs will be 

available through Innovate UK’s grants and loan scheme. 

 

Self-Assessment Payment Deferral  

 

Businesses due to pay a self-assessment payment on account by 31 July 2020 and 

where the coronavirus causes difficulty in making payment by that date may defer 

payment until January 2021.  Businesses do not need to be self-employed to be 

eligible for the deferment. 

 

This is an automatic offer with no applications required.  No penalties or interest for 

late payment will be charged if payments are deferred until 31 January 2021. 

 

Time to Pay 

 

All businesses and self-employed people in financial distress and with outstanding 

tax liabilities may be eligible to receive support with their tax affairs through HMRC’s 

Time To Pay service.  Arrangements are agreed on a case-by-case basis and are 

tailored to individual circumstances and liabilities. 

 

VAT Deferral 

 

This is available to all UK VAT-registered businesses.  Payments can be deferred for 

three months. 

 

UK’s Insolvency Framework 

 

It is planned that new restructuring tools that mirror the USA’s Chapter 11 procedure, 

a well-established model adopted by countries around the world, will be added to the 

UK’s Insolvency Framework.  This includes: 

 

Pack Page 58



• A moratorium for companies giving them breathing space for from creditors 

enforcing their debts for a period of time whilst they seek a rescue or 

restructure. 

• Protection of their supplies to enable them to continue trading during the 

moratorium. 

• A new restructuring plan, binding creditors to that plan. 

 

The proposals also include key safeguards for creditors and suppliers to ensure they 

are paid, while existing laws against fraudulent trading and the threat of director 

disqualification will continue to act as an effective deterrent against reckless misuse 

of these new measures. 

 

Statutory Sick Pay Rebate Scheme 

 

The Coronavirus Statutory Sick Pay (SSP) Rebate Scheme will repay employers the 

current rate of SSP that they pay to current or former employees for periods of 

sickness starting on or after 13 March 2020. 

 

Bounce Back Loan Scheme 

 

From 4 May 2020, businesses will be able to access loans of between £2,000 and 

£50,000.  Businesses will be able to apply for these new Bounce Back Loans for 

25% of their turnover, with the government paying the interest for the first twelve 

months.  Loan terms will be up to six years with no repayments due during the first 

12 months. 

 

The UK government will support lending by guaranteeing, to the lender, 100% of the 

loan.   

 

Pack Page 59



Report
by the Comptroller  
and Auditor General

Overview of the UK government’s 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic 

HC 366 SESSION 2019–2021 21 MAY 2020

A picture of the National Audit Office logo

Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(5)-13-20 P2

Pack Page 60

Agenda Item 6



Our vision is to help the nation spend wisely.

Our public audit perspective helps Parliament hold 
government to account and improve public services.

The National Audit Office (NAO) helps Parliament hold government to account for the 
way it spends public money. It is independent of government and the civil service. 
The Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG), Gareth Davies, is an Officer of the  
House of Commons and leads the NAO. The C&AG certifies the accounts of all 
government departments and many other public sector bodies. He has statutory 
authority to examine and report to Parliament on whether government is delivering 
value for money on behalf of the public, concluding on whether resources have been 
used efficiently, effectively and with economy. The NAO identifies ways that government 
can make better use of public money to improve people’s lives. It measures this impact 
annually. In 2018 the NAO’s work led to a positive financial impact through reduced 
costs, improved service delivery, or other benefits to citizens, of £539 million.

Pack Page 61



Report by the Comptroller and Auditor General

Ordered by the House of Commons 
to be printed on 20 May 2020

This report has been prepared under Section 6 of the 
National Audit Act 1983 for presentation to the House of 
Commons in accordance with Section 9 of the Act

Gareth Davies 
Comptroller and Auditor General 
National Audit Office

19 May 2020

HC 366 | £10.00

Overview of the 
UK government’s response 
to the COVID-19 pandemic 

Pack Page 62



This report is the first of a programme of work to 
be undertaken by the National Audit Office (NAO) to 
support Parliament in its scrutiny of the UK government’s 
response to COVID-19. It provides a summary of the 
government’s actions to date. It does not assess the value 
for money of the measures adopted by government or the 
effectiveness of its response.  

© National Audit Office 2020

The material featured in this document is subject to 
National Audit Office (NAO) copyright. The material 
may be copied or reproduced for non-commercial 
purposes only, namely reproduction for research, 
private study or for limited internal circulation within 
an organisation for the purpose of review. 

Copying for non-commercial purposes is subject 
to the material being accompanied by a sufficient 
acknowledgement, reproduced accurately, and not 
being used in a misleading context. To reproduce 
NAO copyright material for any other use, you must 
contact copyright@nao.org.uk. Please tell us who you 
are, the organisation you represent (if any) and how 
and why you wish to use our material. Please include 
your full contact details: name, address, telephone 
number and email. 

Please note that the material featured in this 
document may not be reproduced for commercial 
gain without the NAO’s express and direct 
permission and that the NAO reserves its right to 
pursue copyright infringement proceedings against 
individuals or companies who reproduce material for 
commercial gain without our permission.

Links to external websites were valid at the time of 
publication of this report. The National Audit Office 
is not responsible for the future validity of the links.

009137 05/20 NAO

Pack Page 63



The National Audit Office study team 
consisted of: 
Leon Bardot, Eleanor Fairbairn, 
Yusra Haji Abdilkadir, Pauline Ngan, 
Poppy Sparham, Katie Taylor and 
Nadia Xarcha, under the direction 
of Sian Jones. 

This report can be found on the  
National Audit Office website at  
www.nao.org.uk

For further information about the 
National Audit Office please contact:

National Audit Office 
Press Office 
157–197 Buckingham Palace Road 
Victoria 
London 
SW1W 9SP

Tel: 020 7798 7400

Enquiries: www.nao.org.uk/contact-us

Website: www.nao.org.uk

Twitter: @NAOorguk

Contents

Summary 4

Part One
Background 8

Part Two 
Government activities, programmes 
and costs 14

Part Three
Our approach to examining 
the UK government’s response 
to COVID-19 30

Appendix One
Our methodology 32

Appendix Two
Timeline of key events 35

If you are reading this document with a screen reader you may wish to use the bookmarks option to navigate through the parts. If 
you require any of the graphics in another format, we can provide this on request. Please email us at www.nao.org.uk/contact-us

Pack Page 64



4 Summary Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic  

Summary

Introduction

1 Significant outbreaks of disease are among the greatest risks faced by any society, 
threatening lives and causing significant disruption to public services and the economy. 
The scale and nature of the current COVID-19 pandemic and government’s response is 
unprecedented in recent history. 

2 The UK government is implementing an extensive range of measures in response 
to the COVID-19 pandemic. This report presents a factual summary of:

• the background (Part One);

• government activity and costs (Part Two); and 

• our approach to examining the UK government’s response (Part Three).

3 This report is the first of a programme of work to be undertaken by the 
National Audit Office (NAO) to support Parliament in its scrutiny of the UK government’s 
response to COVID-19. It provides a summary of the government’s actions to date. 
It does not assess the value for money of the measures adopted by government or the 
effectiveness of its response. 

4 The report covers the main actions taken by the UK government in England, 
as well as the funding provided to support responses in the devolved administrations of 
Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales. It does not cover the individual responses in the 
devolved administrations, or the separate responses implemented by local authorities. 
The report covers the government’s response up to 4 May 2020, and also includes any 
significant additional commitments (defined as those over £0.5 billion) the government 
announced between 4 and 15 May. More details on our audit approach, our evidence 
base and its limitations are available in paragraph 9 and Appendix One.

Pack Page 65



Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Summary 5 

Key findings

5 The UK government mobilised a wide-ranging response to COVID-19 across five 
response areas:

• Health and social care responses covering service delivery, equipment, testing, 
services and vaccine development.

• Other public services and emergency responses across all public services, 
both local and national.

• Support for individuals affected by the pandemic, including benefits and sick pay, 
direct support to individuals or households and deferring tax payments.

• Support for businesses affected by the pandemic, including support for retaining 
jobs, loans and grants.

• Other support including international aid and providing the public with information.

6 The costs of the government’s response are large and uncertain and will 
depend on the continuing health and economic impacts of the pandemic. The report 
covers the government’s response up to 4 May 2020. It also includes any significant 
additional commitments (defined as those over £0.5 billion) the government announced 
between 4 and 15 May, giving a total of £124.3 billion.1 This covers grants and other 
payments (£111.3 billion); expected costs of loans (£5.0 billion) and increases to benefits 
(£8.0 billion). This does not include loss of receipts to the Exchequer of £4.4 billion, 
largely from deferred tax payments. 

7 As of 4 May, there had been 11 ministerial directions related to the government’s 
responses to COVID-19, largely arising from the substantial and urgent additional 
spending commitments. A ministerial direction is sought when the permanent secretary 
of a department thinks that a spending proposal breaches any of the following criteria: 
regularity; propriety; value for money or feasibility. In relation to COVID-19, ministerial 
directions have been sought and granted to exceed Departmental Expenditure Limits 
authorised by Parliament for 2019-20 to support urgent spend; and because it had not 
been possible for departments to carry out as full an appraisal of the value for money of 
some schemes as would usually be undertaken. 

1 The £124.3 billion figure represents the sum of the £6.6 billion to support the health and social care response 
(paragraph 2.4) and the amounts we present in Figures 4 to 7 excluding loss of receipts to the Exchequer. Significant 
additional commitments announced between 4 and 15 May totalled £12.8 billion. The sources are government 
departments and the Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR). 

Pack Page 66



6 Summary Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic  

8 Of the £124.3 billion committed to responding to COVID-19: 

• £6.6 billion was to support the health and social care response (not including 
£13.4 billion of NHS debt that has been written off); 

• £15.8 billion was for other public services and the wider emergency response;

• £19.5 billion was for support measures for individuals;

• £82.2 billion was for financial support for businesses;2 and

• £0.2 billion was for other support.3

These cost commitments are those that we have been able to identify for central 
government spending, based on estimates from departments and the Office for 
Budget Responsibility (OBR). The cost commitments do include the UK’s government’s 
allocation of funding to local authorities in England and devolved administrations of 
Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland but do not include further spending decisions 
taken by them. Some of these commitments are likely to change over time for a given 
period of support, which may lead to adjustments in costs and receipts.

9 The aim of this report is to provide a broad overview of activity and estimated 
costs. Events are moving quickly and the UK government’s response to COVID-19 
is evolving. The figures in this report are initial estimates of costs and our best 
understanding of the announced measures. Many costs are not yet final as the 
UK government’s response continues. Precise costs will also depend on a range of 
uncertain factors, including the impact of the crisis on the wider economy and the level 
of take-up for each scheme. As a result, there are limitations and uncertainty in the 
information available. Limitations include:

• The completeness and quality of cost information. We have not audited individual 
programme costs.

• The overlap between COVID-19 additional funding and costs that are 
business-as-usual. Funding may not represent the net additional cost to 
government (i.e. how much additional funding to departments and devolved 
administrations will eventually be required), as in some cases the measures will 
be deliverable through the reprioritisation of existing funding and resources.

2 Includes: an estimated £50 billion in financial support for businesses to furlough employees, which also represents a 
support measure for individuals; and the current estimate of £5 billion for the cost of loans to businesses in 2020-21, 
although the full cost of these loans will not be known for some time.

3 Source for information on costs of support for health and social care, other public services and emergency responses, 
and other support: government documents and websites. Sources for information on costs of support for individuals 
and support for businesses: government documents and websites and OBR. Cost information has not been audited.

Pack Page 67



Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Summary 7 

• For a number of policies, this report uses OBR estimates of policy costs (last 
updated on 14 May) which capture the direct impact of new policy measures on 
cash borrowing in 2020-21 and are based on their ‘coronavirus reference scenario’ 
(published on 14 April). The OBR website (https://obr.uk/coronavirus-analysis/) 
explains the assumptions underpinning these in more detail. Further details can 
be found in Appendix One. 

• Technicalities such as Barnett formula adjustments (applied to funding from the 
UK government to the devolved administrations) have been explained where they 
are known to be included within costs but may not be identified in all cases.

Departments have reviewed and commented on the activities and costs relating to them. 
HM Treasury has commented on some aspects of the report but has not fact checked 
all the figures.

Pack Page 68



8 Part One Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic  

Part One

Background

1.1 Significant outbreaks of disease are among the greatest risks faced by any society, 
threatening lives and causing extensive disruption to public services and the economy. 
The scale and nature of the current COVID-19 emergency and government’s response is 
unprecedented in recent history. 

Stages of the pandemic

1.2 As of 4 May 2020, the UK government had made more than 500 announcements 
on its responses to the pandemic. These responses are covered in more detail in 
Part Two. A timeline of key events is set out in Appendix Two.

1.3 The government launched its action plan in response to the pandemic on 
3 March 2020. It set out its four-stage strategy: 

• Contain: detect early cases, trace close contacts to avoid the spread of the 
disease, and prevent it taking hold in the UK for as long as is reasonably possible. 
On 12 March, the government announced that the country had moved from the 
Contain to the Delay stage.

• Delay: slow the spread of the disease in the UK. If it does take hold: lower the 
peak impact; push it away from the winter season. 

• Research: better understand the virus and the actions that will lessen its effect on 
the UK population; innovate responses, including diagnostics, drugs and vaccines; 
use the evidence to inform the development of the most effective models of care. 

• Mitigate: provide the best care possible for people who become ill; support 
hospitals to maintain essential services; ensure ongoing support for people ill in the 
community to minimise the overall impact of the disease on society, public services 
and on the economy. 

Preparations for the Research and Mitigate stages began during the Contain stage. 
As of 4 May, the Delay, Research and Mitigate stages are still ongoing. 

Pack Page 69



Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Part One 9 

1.4 A wide range of organisations are involved in delivering the UK government’s 
response to COVID-19 (Figure 1 on pages 10 and 11), including government 
departments, local authorities, other public sector organisations, private sector 
organisations and charities. For example, broadcasters have played an important role 
in helping the government to get its messages across, such as the importance of 
hand-washing and social distancing in preventing and slowing the spread of COVID-19.

1.5 Local authorities play a significant role in the UK government’s response to 
COVID-19 across all the response areas. Government’s funding commitments 
include contributions towards the additional costs that this response imposes on 
local government. Local authorities will be managing these central obligations 
alongside their other locally initiated responses, which are not reflected in this report. 
Obligations include the following:

• Health and social care. Local authorities aim to: work with care providers to 
coordinate social care beds so patients can be quickly and safely discharged 
from hospitals; ensure viable care home provision during the outbreak; contact all 
registered care providers in the local authority area and establish plans for mutual 
support and aid across the area (for example, by sharing care workers between 
supported living and home care providers); and support the local distribution of 
items of personal protective equipment (PPE).

• Other public services and emergency responses. Local authorities aim to: 
provide accommodation and social care basics such as food and health support to 
homeless people sleeping rough or in shelters; work with local education providers 
to ensure enough school places for children of key workers and vulnerable 
children; and manage additional demands on local death management systems 
(for example, collecting information from mortuaries on capacity in local systems).

• Support for individuals. Local authorities aim to: coordinate local support 
systems of volunteers, charities and local access to provide emergency food 
support to those people classed as clinically extremely vulnerable; and use the 
Hardship Fund to reduce council tax bills for working-age people in receipt of 
Local Council Tax Support.

• Support for businesses: Local authorities aim to: administer grant schemes 
to small businesses and retail, hospitality and leisure businesses, which were 
set up with Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy funding to 
respond to COVID-19-related disruption; and administer the business rates holiday 
for retail, hospitality and leisure businesses, estate agents and nurseries for the 
2020-21 tax year. 

• Other support. Local authorities aim to maintain transparent local democracy 
during lockdown by using new powers to hold public meetings remotely by video 
or telephone.

Pack Page 70



Figure 1 shows Organisations involved in the UK government’s response to COVID-19

10 Part One Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic  

Figure 1
Organisations involved in the UK government’s response to COVID-19

Key response areas Key departments Other key public 
sector organisations

Other key organisations 

Health and social care

Increasing COVID-19 
patient capacity

Department for Health & 
Social Care (DHSC), Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local 
Government (MHCLG), Ministry 
of Defence (MoD)

NHS trusts and NHS foundation 
trusts, NHS England and 
NHS Improvement (NHSE&I), 
local authorities and clinical 
commissioning groups

Private sector health 
providers, independent 
adult social care providers  

Adult social care DHSC, MHCLG Local authorities Independent adult social 
care providers 

Medical supply DHSC, Cabinet Office (CO), 
Department for International 
Trade (DIT), Foreign & 
Commonwealth Office (FCO), 
MHCLG

NHS Supply Chain, NHSE&I Pharmaceutical 
companies, private 
sector health equipment 
companies, manufacturing, 
trade associations and 
logistics companies

Testing DHSC, MHCLG Public Health England, local 
authorities, NHSE&I, NHS trusts 
and NHS foundation trusts, 
Medicines and Healthcare 
Products Regulatory Agency, 
Care Quality Commission and 
Office for National Statistics

Pharmaceutical 
companies, universities 
and private sector 
laboratories, 
trade associations

Research and development DHSC, Department for 
International Development (DFID), 
Department for Business, Energy 
& Industrial Strategy (BEIS)

UK Research and Innovation, 
National Institute for 
Health Research

Research and 
development companies

Other public services and emergency responses

Local government services MHCLG, DHSC, Home Office 
(HO), CO

Local authorities (supporting 
central government response 
as well as implementing 
local responses)

Education and 
children’s services

Department for Education, 
MHCLG

Ofqual, Ofsted, Education & 
Skills Funding Agency, Office 
for Students, local authorities, 
schools, colleges and universities

Private sector childcare, 
nursery, education and 
training providers

Repatriation and travel advice FCO, Department for Transport 
(DfT)

Civil Aviation Authority Airlines, travel companies

Pack Page 71



Figure 1 shows Organisations involved in the UK government’s response to COVID-19

Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Part One 11 

Figure 1 continued
Organisations involved in the UK government’s response to COVID-19
Key response areas Key departments Other key public 

sector organisations
Other key organisations 

Other public services and emergency responses continued

Other public services HO, HM Treasury (HMT), DfT, 
DfE, CO, Department for 
Environment, Food & Rural Affairs 
(DEFRA), MoD, MHCLG, Ministry 
of Justice, FCO, Department for 
Digital, Culture, Media & Sport

Border Force, Immigration 
Enforcement, local authorities, 
HM Courts & Tribunals Service, 
HM Prison & Probation Service, 
Arts Council, Transport 
for London

Private sector logistics 
and freight companies, rail 
services, bus operators

Support for individuals

Benefits and sick pay Department for Work & Pensions, 
HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC), 
HMT 

Direct support to 
individuals/households

MHCLG, DEFRA, DWP Local authorities Local resilience forums 
and hubs, charities, 
food distributors

Support for 
self-employed people

HMT, HMRC

Deferring tax payments HMT, HMRC

Support for businesses

Support for retaining jobs HMT, HMRC, DWP

Loans and liquidity BEIS, HMT, HMRC British Business Bank, Bank 
of England, UK Research 
and Innovation, UK Export Finance

Commercial lenders

Grants and other 
funding support

BEIS, DEFRA, MHCLG Local authorities and 
devolved administrations

Additional reliefs MHCLG, HMT, HMRC Local authorities

Other support

International aid DFID Charities, international 
organisations

International cooperation FCO

Communications/
public information

DHSC, CO, MoD BBC Mobile and 
internet providers

Note

1 This diagram does not present all the organisations involved in delivering each of these response areas.

Source: National Audit Offi ce review of government documents

Pack Page 72



12 Part One Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic  

Governance and decision-making structures 

1.6 The Cabinet Office has set out the governance and decision-making structures for 
the UK government’s response to COVID-19. They comprise a Cabinet Secretariat with 
four Ministerial Implementation Committees representing health, international, economic 
and wider public services led by relevant ministers (Figure 2). Departments also have 
their own reporting structures and governance. 

Ministerial directions

1.7 Ministerial directions are formal instructions from ministers telling their department 
to proceed with a spending proposal, despite an objection from their permanent 
secretary. Permanent secretaries, who are directly accountable to Parliament for how 
the department spends its money, have a duty to seek a ministerial direction if they think 
a spending proposal breaches any of the following criteria:

• regularity – if the proposal is beyond the department’s legal powers, or agreed 
spending budgets;

• propriety – if it does not meet “high standards of public conduct”, such as 
appropriate governance or parliamentary expectations;

• value for money – if something else, or doing nothing, would be cheaper and 
better; and

• feasibility – if there is doubt about the proposal being “implemented accurately, 
sustainably or to the intended timetable”.4

1.8 To seek a ministerial direction, the permanent secretary of a department writes to 
his or her Secretary of State expressing concerns about a decision and asking for formal 
direction to proceed. In response, the Secretary of State issues a ministerial direction 
that instructs the permanent secretary to implement the decision. As a result of this 
direction, the minister, not the permanent secretary, is now accountable for the decision. 
As of 4 May, there had been 11 ministerial directions related to the government’s 
responses to COVID-19. Ministerial directions have been sought and granted to exceed 
Departmental Expenditure Limits authorised by Parliament for 2019-20 to support 
urgent spend; and because it had not been possible for departments to carry out as full 
an appraisal of the value for money of some schemes as would usually be undertaken.

4 HM Treasury, Managing public money, March 2018.

Pack Page 73



Figure 2 shows Governance and decision-making arrangements for the UK government’s response to COVID-19

Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Part One 13 

Figure 2
Governance and decision-making arrangements for the UK government’s response 
to COVID-19 in England

Cabinet Office Briefing Rooms (COBR)

Chair: Prime Minister

Meets regularly to take strategic 
decisions and review overall progress in 
relation to COVID-19

Scientific Advisory Group for 
Emergencies (SAGE)

Chair: Government Chief 
Scientific Adviser

Responsible for providing 
coordinated, scientific advice to 
support COBR

COVID-19

Chair: Prime Minister

Meeting of key ministers and officials 
to monitor progress and refine 
measures agreed by COBR. Attendees 
include chairs of each ministerial 
implementation committee

Ministerial Implementation Committees

Note

1 The National Audit Offi ce has not evaluated the effectiveness of this governance and decision-making structure.

Source: Cabinet Offi ce documents

Healthcare

Chair: Health Secretary

Focuses on the NHS 
preparedness and capacity 
and ensuring medical and 
social support is available 
to those who need it

Ministerial Implementation Committees liaise with key departments (for example, the Healthcare Committee liaises with the 
Department of Health & Social Care) and representatives from relevant sectors to inform their decision-making

General Public Sector

Chair: Chancellor of the 
Duchy of Lancaster

Looks at preparedness 
across the public sector 
and critical national 
infrastructure, excluding 
the NHS

Economic & Business

Chair: Chancellor

Deputy Chair: Business 
Secretary

Considers economic 
and business impact 
and response, including 
supply chain resilience. 
Coordinates roundtables 
with key sectors chaired by 
relevant secretaries of state

International

Chair: Foreign Secretary

Considers the international 
response to the crisis 
through the G7, G20 
and other mechanisms; 
the consular response 
to COVID-19; and 
vulnerabilities in the 
international supply chain

Pack Page 74



14 Part Two Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic  

Part Two 

Government activities, programmes and costs

2.1 This Part provides more details about the UK government’s response to 
COVID-19 across the five response areas: health and social care; other public services 
and emergency responses; support for individuals; support for businesses; and 
other support. 

2.2 This Part sets out the main activities that have an associated cost or financial 
commitment above £1 million. UK government activities in response to COVID-19 
will also include other measures taken under the Coronavirus Act 2020 to ensure 
government can continue to function during the COVID-19 outbreak (for example, 
releasing local authorities from the requirement to fully assess people who have 
care needs), where there are limited or unclear cost implications. All costs are 
government figures unless stated otherwise.

Support for health and social care

2.3 Following its commitment to provide the NHS with whatever resources it needs, 
government has taken a range of actions to support the health and social care response 
to COVID-19 which have a significant associated cost (Figure 3 on pages 15 and 16). 
They include measures to increase capacity to treat COVID-19 patients, manage 
medical supplies, support for adult social care, and research and development for 
COVID-19 tests, treatments and a vaccine. 

2.4 On 13 April 2020, the government announced £6.6 billion funding from the 
Coronavirus Emergency Fund to support the health and social care response, in 
addition to the routine Department of Health & Social Care budget that is being spent on 
responding to COVID-19. Figure 3 sets out key activities that government is undertaking 
to support health and social care and the associated costs where we have been able to 
identify them. The government has not yet set out which of these activities or costs will 
be funded from the £6.6 billion Coronavirus Emergency Fund.

2.5 In addition, the government announced the write-off of £13.4 billion of NHS debt 
from 1 April 2020 as part of a wider package of NHS reforms which aim to ensure the 
NHS has the necessary funding and support to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic.5

5 The amount of debt written off is subject to validation and has no fiscal cost to the government.

Pack Page 75



Figure 3 shows Support for health and social care in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Part Two 15 

Figure 3
Support for health and social care in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Type of support Description Lead organisation(s)  Estimated 
costs
(£m)

Explanation

Increasing COVID-19 patient capacity

Funding for the NHS 
to treat coronavirus 
patients, including 
maintaining 
staffing levels

Activities include: hospitals postponing 
all non-urgent operations; establishing 
seven new NHS Nightingale hospitals in 
addition to surge capacity in existing NHS 
hospitals; arranging support from private 
hospitals; re-registering doctors, nurses 
and allied health professionals who had 
left the profession in the last three years; 
offering final year medical students and 
student nurses temporary roles; and 
introducing adjustments to terms and 
conditions to support NHS staff.

Department of Health 
& Social Care (DHSC), 
NHS England and 
NHS Improvement 
(NHSE&I)

Cost 
estimate 

not 
available

Enhanced discharge 
support services

Funding via the NHS, including for 
follow-on care costs after discharge.

DHSC, NHSE&I, 
clinical commissioning 
groups

1,300 Committed funding 
to date.

Adult social care

Increasing support 
for the adult social 
care workforce

Funding for local authorities across 
all the services they deliver, including 
increasing support for the adult social 
care workforce.

Ministry of Housing, 
Communities & 
Local Government 
(MHCLG), DHSC

Included 
in support 

to local 
authorities3 
(Figure 4)

Medical supply

Procuring of 
medical equipment

Procurement of medical equipment 
including additional ventilators.

DHSC, Department 
for International Trade 

Cost 
estimate 

not 
available  

Design and 
manufacture of 
new ventilators

Design and manufacture of new 
ventilators in addition to ventilators 
procured by the health sector.

Cabinet Office Up to 454 Agreed funding 
to date.

Supply of personal 
protective equipment 
(PPE)

DHSC plan includes guidance on who 
needs PPE, and which PPE; distribution 
of PPE; and securing PPE for the 
remainder of the crisis.

DHSC, MHCLG 4,000 Committed funding 
for UK’s PPE demand 
up to end of July 
2020, confirmed 
in letter from 
HM Treasury to DHSC 
on 27 April 2020. 
This was an initial 
estimate that may 
have changed.

Pack Page 76



Figure 3 shows Support for health and social care in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

16 Part Two Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic  

Type of support Description Lead organisation(s)  Estimated 
costs
(£m)

Explanation

Testing 

Developing a 
diagnostic test, 
creating a network 
of testing sites 
and increasing 
testing capacity

Initial test developed by Public Health 
England (PHE) and used in its labs. 
COVID-19 diagnostic tests were rolled out 
to eight PHE laboratories, a network of 
50+ NHS testing sites and a PHE-Roche 
partnership with 15+ testing sites with a 
focus on acute care and outbreak testing. 
In addition, DHSC is taking forward 
mass testing of key workers and the 
wider population.

DHSC, PHE, NHSE&I Cost 
estimate 

not 
available

Research and development 

Rapid research 
response

Includes: vaccine development; 
repurposing existing therapies; 
and developing antibodies that 
target coronavirus. 

DHSC through the 
National Institute 
for Health Research 
and UK Research 
and Innovation 

25 Committed funding; 
funding arrangements 
to be agreed; 
closing date for bids 
in February 2020 
covering research of 
up to 18 months.

Other health activities

Support for 
mental health

Funding for mental health charities to 
expand support services.

DHSC 5 Committed funding.

Life assurance 
scheme

Families of eligible health and social 
care workers in England who die from 
coronavirus in the course of their frontline 
work will receive £60,000 (devolved 
administrations to get funding for 
similar schemes).

DHSC Cost 
estimate 

not 
available

NHS Covid-19 App 
for contact tracing

Funding for the NHS Covid-19 App which 
automates the process of contact tracing.

NHSX 6 Contracts awarded 
to cover the costs of 
app development, 
implementation and 
ongoing support.

Notes

1 All information on costs is from government fi gures unless stated otherwise. Includes all activities that have an associated cost or fi nancial commitment 
above £1 million. Costs are rounded to the nearest £1 million. 

2 The government has not yet set out which of the activities or costs presented in this Figure will be funded from the £6.6 billion from the Coronavirus 
Emergency Fund.

3 £3.2 billion funding to respond to COVID-19 pressures across local services is shown in Figure 4. This includes the adult social care workforce and services 
helping the most vulnerable such as homeless people, clinically vulnerable people and clinically extremely vulnerable people. It also covers other local 
services such as fi re and rescue. 

Source: National Audit Offi ce analysis of government documents and websites

Figure 3 continued
Support for health and social care in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Pack Page 77



Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Part Two 17 

2.6 Government has also taken a range of other actions to support the health and social 
care response to COVID-19 that do not have a significant associated cost, including:

• issuing guidance for COVID-19 patients and health and social care professionals;

• reviews by the Scientific Advisory Group for Emergencies (SAGE) of the number 
of cases in the UK, modelling and interventions made by other countries; and

• issuing notifications to healthcare organisations, GPs, local authorities and 
arm’s-length bodies that they should share information to support efforts 
against coronavirus.

Support for other public services and emergency responses

2.7 Government has taken a range of measures to support other public services 
and the emergency response to COVID-19 which have a significant associated cost 
(Figure 4 on pages 18 to 20). They include funding to support local government 
services, education and children’s services, repatriation and other public services. 
The government has committed £15.8 billion to these measures.

2.8 Government has also taken a range of actions which are being delivered through 
re-prioritising existing resources. These include the following:

• Armed Forces support. This includes a £1 million Defence Innovation Fund to aid 
the Armed Forces in their work tackling COVID-19 and similar future threats. A new 
COVID-19 Support Force has been established to assist public services. Support 
includes deploying military planners and distributing medical and PPE.

• Education and children’s services. The Department for Education is: supporting 
home schooling by making an expected 200,000 laptops available for vulnerable 
and disadvantaged pupils otherwise unable to access online education at an 
estimated cost of £110 million; funding the additional costs incurred by schools 
having to remain open at an estimated cost of £113 million; and committed 
funding for 14 projects to provide extra support for vulnerable children most at 
risk of neglect, violence or exploitation (£12 million) and an adoption support fund 
(£8 million). Schools also have flexibility to offer shopping vouchers or to continue 
providing meals for collection or delivery to families whose children are eligible. 
Depending on demand, the Department estimated this may cost up to £330 million.

• The Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport. The Department is supporting: 
the arts through Arts Council funding for organisations (£140 million) and individuals 
(£20 million); the heritage sector (£50 million); community sport and physical activity 
organisations (£20 million); local tourism organisations (£1 million) and rugby league 
through a package of emergency loans (£16 million) to safeguard the immediate 
future of rugby league (£11 million from new funding and £5 million from amended 
existing funding. 

In addition, many local services are experiencing additional cost pressures associated 
with maintaining the safety, resilience and personal protection of their workforce through 
the pandemic.

Pack Page 78



Figure 4 shows Support for other public services and emergency responses in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

18 Part Two Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic  

Type of support Description Lead organisation(s) Estimated 
costs
(£m)

Explanation

Local government services

Funding for local 
government

Funding to respond to COVID-19 
pressures across local services, 
including the adult social care 
workforce, public health services 
and services helping the most 
vulnerable such as homeless people, 
clinically vulnerable people and 
clinically extremely vulnerable people. 
Also covers other local services such as 
fire and rescue.

Ministry for Housing, 
Communities & 
Local Government 
(MHCLG), Home 
Office (HO)

3,200 Committed funding from 
the COVID-19 fund and 
a further commitment 
in April 2020, covering 
2019-20 and 2020-21.

Infection Control 
Fund

A £600 million fund, that is ringfenced 
for social care, will be given to local 
authorities to help care homes cover 
the costs of implementing measures 
to reduced transmission of COVID-19. 
Devolved administrations will also 
receive £113 million.

Department of 
Health & Social 
Care, MHCLG, 
local authorities

713 Committed funding.2

Initial support for 
rough sleepers

Local authority funding for the cost 
of providing accommodation and 
services to those sleeping on the street 
in England.

MHCLG 3 Committed funding.

Transportation 
and storage of 
the deceased

Contracts for the transportation and 
storage of the deceased to manage 
lack of capacity if necessary.

Cabinet Office (CO) 22 Agreed funding to date.

Repatriation and support to British travellers

Repatriation of 
British travellers

Assistance to British nationals with 
evacuation and return flights to the UK 
from priority countries, in partnership 
with airlines. 

Foreign & 
Commonwealth 
Office (FCO)

Up to 75 Committed funding; 
No set time frame.

Enhanced support 
for British nationals 
travelling overseas

Examples include expanded travel 
advice, 24/7 running of the crisis centre, 
loans for British travellers overseas 
returning home or sheltering in place.

FCO Cost 
estimate 

not 
available

The amount of new 
funding in addition to 
existing budgets has not 
yet been agreed with 
HM Treasury (HMT).

Other

Courts Increased use of video and audio 
systems to conduct hearings. Jury 
trials were paused on 23 March 2020 
with consolidation work of courts and 
tribunals into fewer buildings.

Ministry of Justice 
(MoJ) and HM Courts 
& Tribunals Service 

20 Committed funding.

Figure 4
Support for other public services and emergency responses in the UK government’s response 
to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Pack Page 79



Figure 4 shows Support for other public services and emergency responses in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Part Two 19 

Figure 4 continued
Support for other public services and emergency responses in the UK government’s response 
to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Type of support Description Lead organisation(s) Estimated 
costs
(£m)

Explanation

Other continued

Prisons and 
probation

A range of measures including provision 
of additional accommodation in 
prisons and wider steps to contain 
the spread of the virus, investment 
in additional tagging capacity, staff 
overtime payments, personal protective 
equipment (PPE) purchases and costs 
associated with the introduction of 
exceptional models of delivery.

MoJ and HM Prisons 
& Probation Service 

115 MoJ forecast.

Devolved 
government funding

Funding for the devolved 
administrations, including £2 billion 
from the Coronavirus Emergency 
Response Fund.

HMT 7,0003 Committed funding.

Funding to charities £750 million funding for frontline charities 
in the UK, including hospices and those 
supporting domestic abuse victims, 
sexual abuse victims and vulnerable 
children. Of this, £32 million comes 
from existing departmental budgets. 
£60 million will go to the devolved 
administrations. The government 
pledged to match donations to 
the BBC’s Big Night In fundraiser 
(April 2020). The first £20 million to go 
to the National Emergencies Trust.

Department for 
Digital, Culture, Media 
& Sport (DCMS), 
HMT, MHCLG, 
DfE, MoJ, HO and 
Department for 
Environment, Food & 
Rural Affairs (DEFRA)

It is not yet 
clear what 

amount 
will be 

additional 
to existing 
budgets 

Committed funding.

Rail emergency 
measures

Funding to ensure services continue 
for essential journeys. DfT temporarily 
suspended normal franchise agreements 
with rail operators and transferred all 
revenue and cost risk to the government. 

Department for 
Transport (DfT) 
and HMT

3,500 Cost estimate; funding 
from the Coronavirus 
Emergency Response 
Fund; covering six months 
to end August 2020.

Transport links Government emergency funding 
to support local bus services, light 
rail networks, lifeline transport links 
to the Isle of Wight and the Isles of 
Scilly, aviation and freight routes 
to Northern Ireland, freight links 
to mainland Europe and statutory 
functions in the aviation regulator.

DfT, HMT and
Northern Ireland 
Executive

It is not yet 
clear what 

amount 
will be 

additional 
to existing 
budgets

Cost estimate of 
£260 million covering 
three months to 
June 2020 except 
for freight links to 
mainland Europe and 
Northern Ireland which 
covers two months to 
mid-July 2020 4

Transport for 
London (TfL) 
funding package2

A funding and financing package for 
TfL to safeguard services, based on a 
series of conditions.

DfT and TfL 1,095 Grant of £1,095 million 
and loan of £505 million; 
package announced on 
15 May 2020 and runs 
until October 20205

Pack Page 80



Figure 4 shows Support for other public services and emergency responses in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

20 Part Two Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic  

Figure 4 continued
Support for other public services and emergency responses in the UK government’s response 
to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Type of support Description Lead organisation(s) Estimated 
costs
(£m)

Explanation

Other continued

Support for 
government 
digital services

Includes funding to support systems 
that help Universal Credit claimants 
verify their identity and a new service to 
track 1.5 million vulnerable people.

CO 28 CO estimate of the 
funding to date.

Surplus food grant The grant will help to distribute up to 
14,000 tonnes of surplus stock to those 
in need. 

DEFRA 5 Committed funding.

Grant-in-aid for the 
British Council

Additional funding for the British 
Council’s overseas grant operation, 
enabling them to continue promoting 
cultural understanding between the UK 
and other countries, for example through 
English language teaching, Seasons of 
Culture, and youth exchanges.

FCO 26 Spend; 2019-20.

Notes

1  All information on costs is from government fi gures unless stated otherwise. Includes all activities that have an associated cost or fi nancial commitment 
above £1 million. Costs are rounded to the nearest £1 million. Some estimated costs may be funded through re-prioritising existing resources.

2 This funding was announced on 15 May 2020. This report covers activities announced by 4 May 2020 and announcements over £500 million up to 
15 May 2020.

3 The £7 billion for devolved administrations may include some double counting. For example, it is not clear whether the £2.34 billion funding for them, 
highlighted in Figure 6, in relation to the Small Business Grants Fund and the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants Fund is included in this fi gure.

4 The £260 million is not included in the total of £15.8 billion for other public services and emergency responses in this report because it is not yet clear what 
amount will be additional to existing budgets

5 This funding was announced on 15 May 2020. This report covers activities announced by 4 May 2020 and announcements over £500 million up to 
15 May 2020. The grant will be provided by DfT and the loan will be drawn from the Public Works Loan Board.

Source: National Audit Offi ce analysis of government documents and websites

Pack Page 81



Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Part Two 21 

2.9 Government has also taken a range of other actions to support local services and 
the wider response to COVID-19, such as changes to regulations or guidance, that do 
not have a significant associated cost, including:

• extending driver hours to help deliver more goods to supermarkets and to help 
meet the increased demand for home deliveries and relaxing competition law to 
ensure food retailers can work together to keep shops open;

• introducing new public health regulations strengthening police enforcement powers 
in England to ensure people stay at home and avoid non-essential travel;

• issuing guidance for schools and education providers; 

• extending visas for those currently unable to return home due to COVID-19 and 
lobbying other governments to do the same for British nationals overseas; and

• working closely with third sector organisations to help vulnerable British nationals 
wanting to return from overseas who are in urgent need of food and shelter in their 
current locations.

Support for individuals

2.10 The government has introduced a range of measures to support people facing 
specific economic or personal difficulties as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak, such 
as loss of income (Figure 5 on pages 22 and 23). It includes changes to benefits and 
statutory sick pay, direct support provided to individuals or households, financial support 
for self-employed people and deferring tax payments. These measures are expected 
to cost around £19.5 billion in total. This total does not include loss of receipts from 
non-recoverability of deferred tax payments, which is expected to be around £1.2 billion.

2.11 Government has also taken a range of actions to support individuals that do not 
have a significant associated cost for government. These include:

• issuing guidance and advice on matters affected by the COVID-19 outbreak, for 
example on social distancing, unpaid care and home moving; and

• extending notice periods covering most private and social rented accommodation. 

Pack Page 82



Figure 5 shows Support for individuals in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

22 Part Two Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic  

Figure 5
Support for individuals in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Type of support Description Lead organisation(s) Estimated 
costs
(£m)

Explanation

Benefits and sick pay

Welfare changes 
including increases to 
Universal Credit and 
Working Tax Credit

Welfare changes were announced on 
11 and 20 March 2020 to respond to 
the COVID-19 crisis. These include 
increases to: the standard allowance 
component of Universal Credit; the 
basic element of the Working Tax 
Credit; and Local Housing Allowance. 
People are not required to attend 
Jobcentre Plus appointments or medical 
assessments during the pandemic.

Department for Work 
& Pensions (DWP) 
and HM Revenue & 
Customs (HMRC)

8,000 
(includes 

benefits and 
tax credits)

Office for Budget 
Responsibility 
(OBR) revision to 
HM Treasury (HMT) 
estimate of £7 billion, 
based on aligning to 
the higher caseload 
implied by its 
economy scenario.

Working Tax 
Credit hours

On 4 May 2020, the government 
announced those working reduced 
hours due to coronavirus or those 
being furloughed by their employer will 
not have their tax credits payments 
affected if they are still employed 
or self-employed.

HM Treasury (HMT) 
and HMRC

 Cost 
estimate not 

available

HMRC and HMT are 
working with OBR to 
estimate the impacts 
of this policy.

Child Benefit 
easements

A temporary measure to enable parents 
to claim Child Benefit without having to 
register their child’s birth first.

HMT and HMRC  Cost 
estimate not 

available

HMRC and HMT are 
working with OBR to 
estimate the impacts 
of this policy.

Additional funding 
for delivery of 
welfare measures

Additional funding to deliver and 
support welfare measures.

DWP 166 Committed funding 
covering 2020-21.

Direct support to individuals/households

Council tax relief 
(Hardship Fund) 

The Hardship Fund enables local 
authorities in England to reduce the 
2020-21 council tax bills of working-age 
people receiving Local Council Tax 
Support. Can also be used to provide 
further discretionary support.

Ministry of Housing, 
Communities & Local 
Government (MHCLG) 
and local authorities

500 Committed funding; 
covering 2020-21.

Support for 
clinically extremely 
vulnerable people

This includes measures to support 
people identified as clinically 
extremely vulnerable to COVID-19, 
including government food packages 
(£267 million) and the National Shielding 
Helpline (£56 million).

Department for 
Environment, Food & 
Rural Affairs (DEFRA), 
MHCLG and DWP

323

Pack Page 83



Figure 5 shows Support for individuals in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Part Two 23 

Figure 5 continued
Support for individuals in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Type of support Description Lead organisation(s) Estimated 
costs
(£m)

Explanation

Support for self-employed people

Income support for 
self-employed people

The Self-employment Income Support 
Scheme provides taxable grants to 
self-employed people, or members of 
a partnership, who have lost income. 
Open to an estimated 3.8 million people 
and available for three months, with the 
possibility of extension. 

HMT and HMRC 10,500 OBR estimate 
assuming 80% 
take-up rate and 
average monthly 
grant of £1,250 
(half of the maximum 
grant), over 
3.5 months.

Deferring tax payments

Promoting ‘Time to 
Pay’ arrangements

Taxpayers can request bespoke 
‘Time to Pay’ arrangements to pay 
outstanding tax liabilities in instalments 
if they are not able to pay on time and in 
full due to COVID-19.

HMT and HMRC  Cost 
estimate not 

available

Scaling up of HMRC’s 
Time to Pay service 
could shift receipts 
between years 
and is subject to 
uncertainties over 
costs at this time.

Deferring 
self-assessment 
payments

Those who cannot pay tax bills on 
time due to COVID-19 can delay 
self-assessment payments due in 
July 2020 until 31 January 2021. 
Deferred payments will not be subject 
to a penalty.

HMT and HMRC 1,200 OBR estimate of the 
value of deferred 
payments that will 
not ultimately be paid 
back. OBR assumes 
that 90% of receipts 
otherwise expected 
around the July 
payment on account 
deadline will be 
deferred and that the 
rate of non-payment 
will be 10%.

Notes

1  Some measures in Figure 6 on support for businesses are also intended to benefi t individuals, such as the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme. 

2 All information on costs is from government fi gures unless stated otherwise. Offi ce for Budget Responsibility fi gures are from its coronavirus policy 
monitoring database, published 14 May 2020. Includes all activities that have an associated cost or fi nancial commitment above £1 million. Costs are 
rounded to the nearest £1 million.

Source: National Audit Offi ce analysis of government documents and websites and Offi ce for Budget Responsibility documents

Pack Page 84



24 Part Two Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic  

Support for businesses

2.12 The government announced support measures for businesses to help them 
cope with the economic disruption caused by COVID-19 (Figure 6 on pages 25 to 28). 
They include payments to businesses for furloughed employees, government-backed 
loan schemes, cash grants and additional reliefs. Departments and the Office for Budget 
Responsibility (OBR) have estimated that the cost of business support measures so 
far is expected to be £82.2 billion. In addition, the loss of receipts from measures such 
as deferring VAT payments and postponing off-payroll working reforms is expected to 
total £3.2 billion.

2.13 The full cost of government-backed loan and finance schemes will not be known 
for some time, as it will depend on take-up and how many businesses default on their 
loans. The OBR estimates that three of the largest loan schemes could cost around 
£5 billion in 2020-21 (the Coronavirus Business Interruption Loan Scheme for small 
and medium-sized businesses, the equivalent scheme for large businesses, and the 
Bounce Back Loan Scheme). HM Treasury has announced that the main loan and 
guarantee schemes will be of unlimited size, with an initial £330 billion of guarantees 
being made available in March 2020.

2.14 Government has also taken a range of actions which are being delivered through 
re-prioritising existing resources. These include the following:

• accelerating £200 million of grant and loan funding to research and development 
SMEs; and

• £6.1 million of funding to support local Business Improvement Districts.

2.15 Government has also taken a range of actions to support businesses which are not 
expected to have a significant associated impact on public spending, including:

• issuing a range of guidance on issues affecting businesses as a result of the 
COVID-19 outbreak;

• introducing a ban on evictions for commercial tenants who miss rent payments 
until 30 June, with an option for the government to extend it if needed; 

• giving companies a three-month extension period to file accounts during the 
COVID-19 pandemic; and

• support from the Department for International Trade to help exporters overcome 
trading barriers, find new sources of supply and access new government 
finance schemes. 

Pack Page 85



Figure 6 shows Support for businesses in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Part Two 25 

Figure 6
Support for businesses in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Type of support Description Lead organisation(s) Estimated 
costs
(£m)

Explanation 

Support for retaining jobs

Financial support 
for businesses 
to furlough 
employees

The Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme 
(CJRS) enables employers to claim a 
taxable grant covering 80% of the wages 
for furloughed employees (capped 
at £2,500 a month per employee). 
Employers can claim for employer 
National Insurance Contributions and 
minimum automatic enrolment pension 
contributions. The current form of the 
scheme applies from March to July 2020 
and is open to all employers. CJRS has 
been extended to 31 October 2020, 
with employers expected to make 
contributions to the cost of paying their 
furloughed workers from August 2020.

HM Treasury (HMT) 
and HM Revenue & 
Customs (HMRC)

50,000 Revised Office for Budget 
Responsibility (OBR) 
estimate of net cost, less 
income tax and National 
Insurance Contribution 
payments.3 The OBR’s 
cost estimate covers the 
period from 1 March to 
31 July 2020 (the OBR 
has not estimated 
costs beyond 31 July 
2020 for the extended 
version of the scheme to 
31 October 2020). 

Repaying 
employers for 
statutory sick pay 
paid to employees

The Coronavirus Statutory Sick Pay 
Rebate Scheme repays employers with 
less than 250 employees the current 
rate of statutory sick pay paid to current 
or former employees for periods of 
sickness starting on or after 13 March 
2020, capped at two weeks.

Department for Work 
& Pensions (DWP) 
and administered 
by HMRC

1,000 OBR estimate based on 
halving HMT’s budget day 
estimate from 11 March 
2020, which predated 
CJRS being launched.

Loans and liquidity

Support for small 
and medium-sized 
businesses 
(SMEs) to access 
loan finance

The Coronavirus Business Interruption 
Loan Scheme (CBILS) supports SMEs 
to access loans, overdrafts and other 
finance. Businesses with an annual 
turnover of less than £45 million can 
access finance up to £5 million, with a 
term length of up to six years. They do 
not have to demonstrate that they 
are not able to access commercial 
finance. The government guarantees 
80% of each loan and will pay the first 
12 months of interest on loans and 
any lender-levied fees. 

Department for 
Business, Energy & 
Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS) and HMT, 
with delivery by the 
British Business 
Bank through 
commercial lenders

5,000 
for three 

schemes: 
CBILS, 

Coronavirus 
Large 

Business 
Interruption 

Scheme 
and Bounce 
Back Loan 
Scheme

OBR estimate of the cost 
of these three schemes 
in 2020-21.4

At 11 May 2020, more 
than 35,000 CBILS loans 
had been issued at a 
value of £6,094 million.

Scheme open initially to 
23 September 2020.

Support for large 
businesses to 
access loan 
finance

The Coronavirus Large Business 
Interruption Loan Scheme (CLBILS) 
supports large businesses to access 
loans, overdrafts and other finance. 
Businesses with an annual turnover 
between £45 million and £250 million 
can apply for up to £25 million of finance, 
and firms with an annual turnover of 
over £250 million can apply for up to 
£50 million of finance. The maximum 
term length is three years. 

BEIS and HMT, 
with delivery by the 
British Business 
Bank through 
commercial lenders

See above See above for 
explanation of cost.

At 11 May 2020, 59 loans 
had been issued at a 
value of £359 million.

Scheme open initially to 
20 October 2020.

Pack Page 86



Figure 6 shows Support for businesses in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

26 Part Two Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic  

Figure 6 continued
Support for businesses in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Type of support Description Lead organisation(s) Estimated 
costs
(£m)

Explanation 

Loans and liquidity continued

Support for 
businesses to 
quickly access 
smaller amounts 
of loan finance

The Bounce Back Loan Scheme 
(BBLS) provides loans to businesses 
of up to £50,000 (interest free for 
the first 12 months), with a 100% 
government-backed guarantee for 
lenders. These loans have a term 
length of six years.

BEIS and HMT, 
with delivery by the 
British Business 
Bank through 
commercial lenders

See above See above for explanation 
of cost.

At 11 May 2020, over 
268,000 loans had been 
issued at a value of 
£8,378 million.

Scheme open initially to 
4 November 2020.

Corporate 
financing 
support for large 
companies

The Covid Corporate Financing Facility 
(CCFF) is designed to help larger firms 
bridge COVID-19-related disruptions to 
their cash flows through the purchase 
of their short-term debt. CCFF is 
intended to operate for an initial period 
of 12 months.

Bank of England 
(BoE) and HMT

Cost 
estimate not 

available

BoE expects costs/losses 
from this scheme will be 
significantly lower than 
the value of funds drawn 
down from the scheme.5

At 6 May 2020, 
£17,700 million of 
funds had been drawn 
down, with a total of 
£52,000 million approved 
for draw-down.

Government 
convertible loans 
to innovative 
companies

The Future Fund scheme will issue 
convertible loans of between £125,000 
and £5m to innovative companies 
which are facing financing difficulties 
due to COVID-19. Each loan requires at 
least equal match funding from private 
investors and can be converted into 
equity in the company once the loan 
matures. The scheme is open initially 
to 30 September 2020.

BEIS and HMT, in 
partnership with the 
British Business Bank

Cost 
estimate not 

available

HMT has announced 
an initial allocation of 
£250 million of investment 
funding for this scheme, 
but a cost estimate is not 
yet available. 

Financial support 
for research and 
development 
SMEs

A mix of grant and loan payments 
to SMEs focusing on research 
and development. 

UK Research 
and Innovation

Up to 550 Committed funding.

Deferring VAT 
payments

UK VAT registered businesses can defer 
VAT payments due between 20 March 
and 30 June 2020 to March 2021. 
No interest or penalties will be charged.

HMT and HMRC 1,900 OBR estimate that 
assumes 5% of deferred 
payments will not 
ultimately be paid back 
because some firms will 
fail between now and the 
end of the financial year.

Pack Page 87



Figure 6 shows Support for businesses in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Part Two 27 

Type of support Description Lead organisation(s) Estimated 
costs
(£m)

Explanation 

Enabling 
continued export 
finance support 
for exporters

UK Export Finance (UKEF) has 
expanded the scope of its Export 
Insurance Policy so that insurance can 
now cover up to 95% of the value of an 
export contract. This protects against 
the risk of non-payment if UK exporters’ 
customers become insolvent or other 
governments’ actions make fulfilling 
contracts impossible

HMT and UKEF Cost 
estimate not 

available

UKEF support is 
demand-led, with around 
£30 billion of capacity 
available. Costs are 
contingent on defaults, 
which UKEF expects 
to be significantly lower 
than £30 billion.

Grants and other funding support

Small Business 
Grants Fund 
(SBGF) and the 
Retail, Hospitality 
and Leisure 
Grants Fund 
(RHLGF)

Two grant funding schemes set up to 
support small businesses (£7.292 billion) 
and businesses in the retail, hospitality 
and leisure sectors (£5.042 billion). 
Eligible small businesses can receive 
grants of £10,000, while retail, 
hospitality and leisure businesses can 
receive grants of £25,000. The cost of 
administering the scheme is subject to 
a new burdens assessment (£70 million 
has provisionally been allocated by 
HMT). £2.259 billion has also been 
allocated to devolved administrations.

BEIS with local 
authorities 
administering 
grants, devolved 
administrations

14,744 Committed funding. 
At 10 May 2020, 
£9.14 billion had 
been paid to 742,000 
businesses in England.

Local 
Discretionary 
Grant Fund 
(LADGF)

This fund is aimed at small businesses 
with ongoing fixed property-related costs 
who were not eligible for the SBGF and 
RHLGF. Local authorities can spend up 
to 5% of their expenditure on these two 
schemes (capped at £617 million).

BEIS with local 
authorities 
administering grants

Up to 
617

HMT will meet the costs 
of the LADGF up to the 
maximum £617 million 
if local authorities are 
unable to meet the costs 
from existing allocations 
for SBGF and RHLGF. 

Other grants and 
funding support 
for specific 
businesses/ 
sectors

These include grants and funding 
support to the marine and fisheries 
industry (£10 million) and zoos 
(£14 million).

Department for 
Environment, Food & 
Rural Affairs (DEFRA)

24 Committed funding.

Additional reliefs

Business rates 
relief for retail, 
hospitality and 
leisure businesses

Eligible businesses in England in the 
retail, hospitality and leisure sectors do 
not have to pay business rates for the 
2020-21 tax year. Also applies to estate 
agents and lettings agencies. There is a 
separate scheme for childcare nurseries. 
Local authorities will be reimbursed for 
the loss of business rates receipts.

MHCLG and 
local authorities

10,221 Confirmed cost to 
central government 
covering 2020-21.

Figure 6 continued
Support for businesses in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Pack Page 88



Figure 6 shows Support for businesses in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

28 Part Two Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic  

Figure 6 continued
Support for businesses in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Type of support Description Lead organisation(s) Estimated 
costs
(£m)

Explanation 

Additional reliefs continued

Postponing 
off-payroll 
working reforms

Changes to off-payroll working rules 
have been delayed by 12 months, 
resulting in loss of the revenue that 
would have come from implementing it 
at the planned time.

HMT and HMRC 1,200 OBR initial estimate of 
loss of receipts from 
postponing this reform, 
based on the 2020-21 
estimated yield that 
would have resulted 
from implementing 
this change.

Scrapping VAT on 
e-publications

This measure was announced in the 
March 2020 Budget and was due to take 
effect from 1 December 2020. It has now 
been brought forward to 1 May 2020.

HMT and HMRC 100 OBR estimate of the 
reduction in VAT receipts 
in 2020-21 by the change 
in start date.

Relief on import 
taxes for goods to 
tackle COVID-19

Import VAT and customs duty relief for 
goods to tackle COVID-19 until 31 July. 
Applies to specific medical goods 
coming from outside the EU, including 
ventilators, coronavirus testing kits and 
protective clothing.

HMT and HMRC Cost 
estimate not 

available

HMRC and HMT are 
working with OBR to 
estimate the impacts of 
this policy.

VAT zero rating 
for personal 
protective 
equipment (PPE)

A new temporary zero rate applies to 
supplies of PPE, as defined by Public 
Health England’s coronavirus (COVID-19) 
PPE guidance on 24 April 2020, between 
1 May and 31 July 2020.

HMT and HMRC Cost 
estimate not 

available

The measure is expected 
to decrease receipts. 

Extension to 
payment on 
Duty Deferment 
Accounts (DDA)

Those unable to pay the full amount 
of customs duty and Import VAT 
owed on their DDA because of severe 
COVID-19-related difficulties can extend 
the payment period for duties deferred 
in April and May 2020 for up to three 
months from their due date.

HMT and HMRC Cost 
estimate not 

available

HMRC and HMT are 
working with OBR to 
estimate the impacts 
of this policy.

Notes

1 Some measures on support for individuals could also be included under support for businesses, such as the Self-employment Income Support Scheme. 

2 All information on costs is from government fi gures unless stated otherwise. Offi ce for Budget Responsibility fi gures are from its coronavirus policy 
monitoring database, published 14 May 2020. Includes all activities that have an associated cost or fi nancial commitment above £1 million. Costs are 
rounded to the nearest £1 million.

3 The Offi ce for Budget Responsibility’s estimate of the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme was revised on 14 May 2020, to increase its estimated cost 
by £11 billion following the government’s announcement on 12 May that the scheme would be extended to the end of October 2020 and operate in its 
current form to the end of July 2020 (rather than the end of June as previously announced). This report covers activities announced by 4 May 2020 and 
announcements over £500 million up to 15 May 2020.

4  In May 2020, the Offi ce for Budget Responsibility estimated the cost to government of three loan schemes for 2020-21: the Coronavirus Business 
Interruption Loan Scheme, the Coronavirus Large Business Interruption Loan Scheme and the Bounce Back Loan Scheme. This cost estimate is based on 
there being £50 billion of lending across the three schemes, of which 10% is assumed to result in write-offs and a consequent cost to the public fi nances.

5 The Covid Corporate Financing Facility is indemnifi ed by HM Treasury (HMT), with HMT paying costs to the scheme as any losses crystallise. The Bank 
of England expects costs/losses from the scheme to be signifi cantly lower than the value of funds drawn down because of the low risk of default from 
the fi rms accessing the scheme, which need to have an investment-grade credit rating.

Source: National Audit Offi ce analysis of government documents and websites and Offi ce for Budget Responsibility documents

Pack Page 89



Figure 7 shows Other support in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Part Two 29 

Other support

2.16 Government has also undertaken other measures in response to the COVID-19 
outbreak (Figure 7) including communications and public information campaigns. 
This other support is expected to cost £217 million.

2.17  Government has also taken a range of actions which are funded through 
re-prioritising existing resources. These include:

• £744 million of UK aid to tackle COVID-19 worldwide, including £250 million to the 
Coalition for Epidemic Preparedness Innovations to research a coronavirus vaccine 
and £200 million to UK charities and international organisations to help reduce 
mass infections in developing countries; and

• support for Overseas Territories, including the Conflict, Stability and Security 
Fund, which is procuring essential medical supplies, staff and logistical support, 
as well as supporting medical facilities in the Falkland Islands; providing a Security 
Assistance Team to local authorities in the Cayman Islands; and Turks and Caicos, 
and supporting border security measures in Anguilla.

• A £5 million COVID-19 support package for St Helena and Montserrat.

2.18 Government has also taken a range of actions which do not have a significant cost 
associated with them. These include:

• publishing its ‘battle plan’ to tackle COVID-19;

• launching a Coronavirus Information Service on WhatsApp; and 

• listing cultural content available online, including from the Department for Digital, 
Culture, Media & Sport’s arm’s-length bodies.

Figure 7
Other support in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, as at 4 May 2020

Type of support Description Lead organisation(s) Estimated
costs
(£m)

Explanation 

Communications and public information

Communications 
and information 
campaigns

Public information campaigns on how to 
slow the spread of COVID-19 and reduce 
the impact on NHS services, such as 
guidance on COVID-19 symptoms and 
hand washing. The Cabinet Office (CO) 
supported by the Ministry of Defence 
(MoD), has been tackling misinformation.

CO, Department for 
Health & Social Care, 
MoD

217 CO estimate with 
£75 million agreed 
to date.

Note

1 All information on costs is from government fi gures unless stated otherwise. Includes all activities that have an associated cost or fi nancial commitment 
above £1 million. Costs are rounded to the nearest £1 million.

Source: National Audit Offi ce analysis of government documents and websites

Pack Page 90



30 Part Three Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic  

Part Three

Our approach to examining the UK government’s 
response to COVID-19

3.1 This report is the first stage of our programme of work examining government’s 
response to COVID-19. We will use this report to identify a risk-based series of evaluative 
and descriptive reports targeted on areas where we think there have been particular 
challenges and where we feel there is most to learn. 

3.2 In carrying out our programme of work, we will continue to carefully consider its 
timing and nature to minimise the impact on those dealing with the emergency at this 
exceptionally busy time, while providing Parliament and the public with timely reporting 
to support accountability and learning.

3.3 Our confirmed programme of work so far includes this summary overview, which 
aims to set out the facts and figures around the government’s response; and our review 
of Readying the NHS and social care for the COVID-19 peak, which will provide a 
factual update on progress with key government actions across health and social care. 
These areas include:

• increasing the availability of healthcare professionals and beds to treat COVID-19 
patients while maintaining other essential health services;

• securing adequate vital supplies, including personal protective equipment (PPE), 
testing equipment, and ventilators; and

• protecting and supporting vulnerable groups, including those residents in care 
homes and healthcare professionals.

Pack Page 91



Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Part Three 31 

3.4 The immediate priorities for the government response have been to ensure that 
measures protect people from exposure to COVID-19 and ensure that those infected 
are cared for. However, the government is also having to consider and mitigate the 
risks created by its response to the crisis. Looking ahead, we expect to report on how 
government has approached these risks. Our further enquires will likely consider the 
following areas (not an exhaustive list): 

• Procurement and supply chains. Many departments are having to source 
products and services quickly in new or emerging markets, often with complex 
and varied supply chains. The health and social care supply chain has had to 
work with pharmaceutical companies, private sector health equipment companies 
and manufacturing and logistics companies, and must compete with many other 
purchasing entities from across the world. This increases the risk that there will 
be insufficient supply, such as the well-documented challenges with providing 
sufficient PPE and other medical equipment.

• Fraud and error. To get support to those that need it quickly, departments 
have had to relax the controls and checks they would normally have in place to 
administer and deliver schemes of support. This increases the risk of fraud and 
error, as support may be given to those that are not eligible and fraudsters may 
seek to exploit any loopholes.

• Capitalising on new ways of working and retaining lessons learnt. In order to 
deal with the impacts of COVID-19 and implement its responses, government has 
had to streamline decision-making, work across multiple departments and public 
bodies and use a range of delivery structures. Departments’ risk not capitalising on 
the benefits and opportunities these new ways of working have brought.

• Maintaining focus on existing significant challenges. The COVID-19 pandemic 
hit as government was already dealing with major challenges, including EU Exit; 
meeting government’s net zero carbon emissions target; major infrastructure 
projects; and the financial sustainability of key public services. Departments’ risk 
losing ground on the progress they have made in addressing these challenges. 

3.5 Our future work programme will necessarily need to be responsive to events as 
the government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic evolves. As our work develops 
and individual areas of focus become clear, we will publish the details on the dedicated 
COVID-19 section on our website (www.nao.org.uk/about-us/covid-19-coronavirus/).

Pack Page 92

https://nationalauditoffice.sharepoint.com/sites/TMCrossGov/Shared Documents/VFM Audit Products/COVID-19 Summary of the response/www.nao.org.uk/about-us/covid-19-coronavirus/


32 Appendix One Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic 

Appendix One

Our methodology

Scope

1 This report provides an overview of the UK government’s response to COVID-19 
and the costs involved. As at 15 May 2020, the government had made more than 
500 announcements and committed over £124.3 billion in response to COVID-19. 
This report sets out the facts relating to: 

• the government’s coronavirus action plan launched on 3 March;

• the organisations involved in the government’s response;

• the governance and decision-making structures for the government’s response;

• the government’s activities and related costs across five response areas: health 
and social care; other public services and emergency responses; support for 
individuals; support for businesses; and other support; 

• the role of government departments and other bodies in implementing 
those plans; and

• our approach to examining the government’s response.

2 The report covers the main actions taken by the UK government in England, as 
well as the funding provided to support responses in the devolved administrations of 
Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales. It does not cover the individual responses in the 
devolved administrations, or the separate responses implemented by local authorities. 
The report covers the government’s response up to 4 May 2020, and includes additional 
government funding commitments of over £0.5 billion, made up to 15 May 2020

3 This report sets out the main activities that have an associated cost or financial 
commitment above £1 million. UK government activities in response to COVID-19 
will also include other measures taken under the Coronavirus Act 2020 to ensure 
government can continue to function during the COVID-19 outbreak (for example, 
releasing local authorities from the requirement to fully assess people who have care 
needs), where there are limited or unclear cost implications. All costs are government 
figures unless stated otherwise. 

Pack Page 93



Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Appendix One 33 

4 This report does not assess the value for money of the measures adopted by 
government or the effectiveness of its response. These cost commitments are those that 
we have been able to identify for central government spending, based on estimates from 
departments and the Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR). The cost commitments do 
include the UK’s government’s allocation of funding to local authorities in England and 
devolved administrations of Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland but do not include 
further spending decisions taken by them. Some of these commitments are likely to 
change over time for a given period of support, which may lead to adjustments in costs 
and receipts. 

5 The aim of this report is to provide a broad overview of activity and estimated 
costs. Events are moving quickly and the UK government’s response to COVID-19 
is evolving. The figures in this report are initial estimates of costs and our best 
understanding of the announced measures. Many costs are not yet final as the UK 
government’s response continues. Precise costs will also depend on a range of 
uncertain factors, including the impact of the crisis on the wider economy and the level 
of take-up for each scheme. As a result, there are limitations and uncertainty in the 
information available. Limitations include:

• The completeness and quality of cost information. We have not audited individual 
programme costs.

• The overlap between COVID-19 additional funding and costs that are 
business-as-usual. Funding may not represent the net additional cost to 
government (i.e. how much additional funding to departments and devolved 
administrations will eventually be required), as in some cases the measures will be 
deliverable through the reprioritisation of existing funding and resources.

• For a number of policies, this report uses OBR estimates of policy costs (last 
updated on 14 May) which capture the direct impact of new policy measures on 
cash borrowing in 2020-21 and are based on their ‘coronavirus reference scenario’ 
(published on 14 April). The OBR website (https://obr.uk/coronavirus-analysis/) 
explains the assumptions underpinning these in more detail. Given the timing of this 
work, OBR notes there is a high level of uncertainty around these figures. Many of 
the policies costed will have short-term, substantial direct budgetary costs, designed 
to support individuals and businesses through this temporary shock in order to 
help prevent greater economic and fiscal damage in the long-term. OBR has not 
attempted to quantify the costs of inaction. OBR’s standard approach to forecasting 
is to evaluate the cost (or yield) from new policies against a pre-measured baseline. 
It does not deem this approach to be feasible in the current circumstances. Instead 
it has presented the costs relative to a scenario baseline that already captures the 
effect of policy interventions on economic activity.

• Technicalities such as Barnett formula adjustments (applied to funding from the 
UK government to the devolved administrations) have been explained where they 
are known to be included within costs but may not be identified in all cases.

Departments have reviewed and commented on the activities and costs relating to 
them. HM Treasury has commented on some aspects of the report but has not fact 
checked all the figures.

Pack Page 94



34 Appendix One Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic 

Methods

6 We have produced this report after collecting evidence between 31 January and 
15 May 2020. We: 

• reviewed announcements made by the government in response to COVID-19;

• reviewed key documents and guidance published by government departments in 
response to COVID-19;

• reviewed government’s data on the costs of responding to COVID-19; 

• reviewed other estimates on the costs of government’s response, such as from the 
Office for Budget Responsibility; and

• drew on discussions with government departments about the impact of COVID-19 
on their operations.

Pack Page 95



Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Appendix Two 35 

Appendix Two

Timeline of key events

1 See Figure 8 on pages 36 to 39.

Pack Page 96



Figure 8 shows Timeline of key events in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, 31 January to 29 April 2020

36 Appendix Two Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic 

20–31 Mar 2020

10 Apr

National plan to 
secure Personal 
Protective 
Equipment (PPE) 
published

4 Apr

New 5-pillar 
plan to 
increase 
testing 
launched

1 Apr

£13.4 billion of 
NHS providers’ 
debt written off

12 Mar

UK risk level 
raised from 
‘moderate’ 
to ‘high’

17 Mar

NHS England and NHS 
Improvement issue 
instruction letter to the 
NHS to redirect staff and 
resources to respond to 
the pandemic

17 Apr

Testing eligibility 
extended to the 
police, fire service, 
judiciary and others

9 Apr 

UK’s largest 
diagnostic lab 
network becomes 
operational

8 Apr 

Testing of all 
symptomatic 
NHS and social 
care staff

23 Apr 

Testing eligibility 
extended to all 
essential workers and 
digital portal opened

15 Apr 

Launch of Adult Social 
Care Plan and commitment 
to expand testing to 
all symptomatic social 
care residents

28 Apr 

Testing eligibility extended to those 
who cannot work from home and over 
65s and announcement of rolling out 
testing of asymptomatic residents and 
staff in care homes in England and of 
patients and staff in the NHS

29 Apr 

NHS England and NHS 
Improvement issue instruction 
letter to the NHS outlining the 
second phase of the response 

20 Mar 

Letters sent to 
65,000 retired 
nurses and doctors 
asking them to 
return to work

19 Mar

Government announces 
funding to enhance the NHS 
discharge process, covering 
follow-on care costs

16 Mar

Calls to businesses to design and 
manufacture ventilators

UK citizens advised to avoid 
non-essential contact and social 
gatherings and to work from home

21 Mar

Deal announced with private 
healthcare providers for 
8,000 beds, 1,200 ventilators 
and 18,700 clinical staff

31 Jan

Chief Medical 
Officer confirms first 
Coronavirus case 
in England

Feb 2020 1–19 Mar 2020 Apr 2020

5 Mar

Coronavirus 
classified as a 
notifiable disease

3 Mar

Four-stage 
coronavirus 
action plan 
published

26 Feb

Public Health England 
establish surveillance 
system in intensive 
care units and 
respiratory centres

22 Feb

Arrowe Park Hospital 
becomes isolation 
facility for returning 
UK travellers

2 Feb

Public health 
information 
campaign 
launched

10 Feb

Testing kit developed and 
rolled out

Health Protection (Coronavirus) 
Regulations 2020

Support for health and social care

Figure 8 
Timeline of key events in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, 31 January to 29 April 2020

Pack Page 97



Figure 8 shows Timeline of key events in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, 31 January to 29 April 2020

Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Appendix Two 37 

20–31 Mar 2020

10 Apr

National plan to 
secure Personal 
Protective 
Equipment (PPE) 
published

4 Apr

New 5-pillar 
plan to 
increase 
testing 
launched

1 Apr

£13.4 billion of 
NHS providers’ 
debt written off

12 Mar

UK risk level 
raised from 
‘moderate’ 
to ‘high’

17 Mar

NHS England and NHS 
Improvement issue 
instruction letter to the 
NHS to redirect staff and 
resources to respond to 
the pandemic

17 Apr

Testing eligibility 
extended to the 
police, fire service, 
judiciary and others

9 Apr 

UK’s largest 
diagnostic lab 
network becomes 
operational

8 Apr 

Testing of all 
symptomatic 
NHS and social 
care staff

23 Apr 

Testing eligibility 
extended to all 
essential workers and 
digital portal opened

15 Apr 

Launch of Adult Social 
Care Plan and commitment 
to expand testing to 
all symptomatic social 
care residents

28 Apr 

Testing eligibility extended to those 
who cannot work from home and over 
65s and announcement of rolling out 
testing of asymptomatic residents and 
staff in care homes in England and of 
patients and staff in the NHS

29 Apr 

NHS England and NHS 
Improvement issue instruction 
letter to the NHS outlining the 
second phase of the response 

20 Mar 

Letters sent to 
65,000 retired 
nurses and doctors 
asking them to 
return to work

19 Mar

Government announces 
funding to enhance the NHS 
discharge process, covering 
follow-on care costs

16 Mar

Calls to businesses to design and 
manufacture ventilators

UK citizens advised to avoid 
non-essential contact and social 
gatherings and to work from home

21 Mar

Deal announced with private 
healthcare providers for 
8,000 beds, 1,200 ventilators 
and 18,700 clinical staff

31 Jan

Chief Medical 
Officer confirms first 
Coronavirus case 
in England

Feb 2020 1–19 Mar 2020 Apr 2020

5 Mar

Coronavirus 
classified as a 
notifiable disease

3 Mar

Four-stage 
coronavirus 
action plan 
published

26 Feb

Public Health England 
establish surveillance 
system in intensive 
care units and 
respiratory centres

22 Feb

Arrowe Park Hospital 
becomes isolation 
facility for returning 
UK travellers

2 Feb

Public health 
information 
campaign 
launched

10 Feb

Testing kit developed and 
rolled out

Health Protection (Coronavirus) 
Regulations 2020

Support for health and social care

Figure 8 
Timeline of key events in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, 31 January to 29 April 2020

Pack Page 98



Figure 8 shows Timeline of key events in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, 31 January to 29 April 2020

38 Appendix Two Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic 

Figure 8 continued
Timeline of key events in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, 31 January to 29 April 2020

16 Apr

Lockdown to 
continue for another 
three weeks

18 Apr

Government 
announces extra 
£1.6 billion for local 
authorities in England

11 Mar 

£12 billion support 
package for individuals and 
businesses announced

13 Mar

Business rate relief for 
retail, hospitality and leisure 
businesses announced

24 Mar

Prime Minister sends text 
messages and letters to 
UK citizens advising of 
movement restrictions

19 Mar 

Government 
announces £1.6 billion 
for local authorities 
in England

21 Mar

Entertainment 
and hospitality 
venues closed

9 Mar 

Coronavirus Task 
Force to review local 
resilience launched

13 Apr 

Government 
announces £3.5 billion 
for rail emergency 
measures

26 Mar

Coronavirus Job Retention 
scheme to furlough workers at 
80% of normal wages announced

20 Apr 

Coronavirus Job 
Retention Scheme 
goes live

26 Mar

Self-employment 
Income Support 
Scheme announced

29 Mar

First food parcels 
delivered to 
most vulnerable

17 Mar 

£330 billion of loan guarantees made 
available for government-backed 
loans to businesses

4 Mar 

Statutory sick pay from day one 
for those who are off work due 
to Covid-19 announced

31 Jan

Foreign & Commonwealth 
Office begins chartering 
planes to repatriate British 
nationals from China

23 Mar 

All non-essential businesses closed. New movement 
restrictions (lockdown) announced by the Prime Minister

Schools, nurseries and colleges close except for children 
who are vulnerable or whose parents are critical workers

Source: National Audit Offi ce review of government documents and websites

Note

1 The diagram does not include all government announcements on COVID-19.

Support for other public services 
and wider emergency response

Support for businesses

Support for individuals

20–31 Mar 2020Feb 2020 1–19 Mar 2020 Apr 2020

Pack Page 99



Figure 8 shows Timeline of key events in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, 31 January to 29 April 2020

Overview of the UK government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic Appendix Two 39 

Figure 8 continued
Timeline of key events in the UK government’s response to COVID-19, 31 January to 29 April 2020

16 Apr

Lockdown to 
continue for another 
three weeks

18 Apr

Government 
announces extra 
£1.6 billion for local 
authorities in England

11 Mar 

£12 billion support 
package for individuals and 
businesses announced

13 Mar

Business rate relief for 
retail, hospitality and leisure 
businesses announced

24 Mar

Prime Minister sends text 
messages and letters to 
UK citizens advising of 
movement restrictions

19 Mar 

Government 
announces £1.6 billion 
for local authorities 
in England

21 Mar

Entertainment 
and hospitality 
venues closed

9 Mar 

Coronavirus Task 
Force to review local 
resilience launched

13 Apr 

Government 
announces £3.5 billion 
for rail emergency 
measures

26 Mar

Coronavirus Job Retention 
scheme to furlough workers at 
80% of normal wages announced

20 Apr 

Coronavirus Job 
Retention Scheme 
goes live

26 Mar

Self-employment 
Income Support 
Scheme announced

29 Mar

First food parcels 
delivered to 
most vulnerable

17 Mar 

£330 billion of loan guarantees made 
available for government-backed 
loans to businesses

4 Mar 

Statutory sick pay from day one 
for those who are off work due 
to Covid-19 announced

31 Jan

Foreign & Commonwealth 
Office begins chartering 
planes to repatriate British 
nationals from China

23 Mar 

All non-essential businesses closed. New movement 
restrictions (lockdown) announced by the Prime Minister

Schools, nurseries and colleges close except for children 
who are vulnerable or whose parents are critical workers

Source: National Audit Offi ce review of government documents and websites

Note

1 The diagram does not include all government announcements on COVID-19.

Support for other public services 
and wider emergency response

Support for businesses

Support for individuals

20–31 Mar 2020Feb 2020 1–19 Mar 2020 Apr 2020

Pack Page 100



This report has been printed on Pro Digital 
Silk and contains material sourced from 
responsibly managed and sustainable 
forests certified in accordance with the 
FSC (Forest Stewardship Council).

The wood pulp is totally recyclable and 
acid-free. Our printers also have full ISO 14001 
environmental accreditation, which ensures 
that they have effective procedures in place to 
manage waste and practices that may affect 
the environment.

Pack Page 101



£10.00

9 781786 043177

ISBN 978-1-78604-317-7

Design and Production by NAO External Relations 
DP Ref: 009137-001

You have reached the end of this document
Pack Page 102



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 103

Agenda Item 7By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2a Committee Correspondence: Senedd Electoral Reform - Letter from the Auditor General for Wales (15 May 2020)
	Capacity of the Senedd

	2b Inquiry into COVID-19 and its impact on matters relating to the Public Accounts Committee’s remit: Letters from the Permanent Secretary, Welsh Government (19 May 2020) (1 June 2020)
	PAC(5)-13-20 PTN3 - Letter from PS to PAC Chair - Covid session

	2c Housing Adaptations: Letter from the Welsh Government (28 May 2020)
	3 Welsh Government Financial Support for Business: Evidence session with the Welsh Government
	PAC(5)-13-20 P1 - WG Financial Support for Business

	6 Inquiry into COVID-19 and its impact on matters relating to the Public Accounts Committee’s remit: National Audit Office Report
	Summary
	Part One
	Background

	Part Two 
	Government activities, programmes and€costs

	Part Three
	Our approach to examining the UK government’s response to COVID-19

	Appendix One
	Our methodology

	Appendix Two
	Timeline of key events


	7 Effectiveness of Local Planning Authorities in Wales: Consideration of draft report



